
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 4th December, 2018

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Sanders
Vice Chairman Cllr Samuel

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Jory
Cllr Oxborough
Cllr Sampson

Cllr Mott
Cllr Leech
Cllr Roberts

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this 
meeting. If Councillors have any questions relating to 
predetermination, bias or intrests in items on this Agenda, then 
please contact the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention
To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes
Minutes of meeting held 20 November 2018

1 - 8

5.  Revenue Monitoring 9 - 20

6.  Capital Budget Monitoring 2018/19 21 - 30

7.  Budget Proposals 2019-20 onwards update report 31 - 62

8.  Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 63 - 80



At a Meeting  of the HUB COMMITTEE  held at the Council  Chamber, 
Council Offices, Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, TAVISTOCK on TUESDAY 
the 20th day of NOVEMBER, 2018 at 2.00pm 

 
Present:                             Cllr P R Sanders – Chairman 
      Cllr L Samuel – Vice Chairman 

  
Cllr C Edmonds     Cllr N Jory 
Cllr A F Leech   Cllr C Mott 
Cllr R Oxborough   Cllr A Roberts 
Cllr R F D Sampson   

 
In attendance:       Head of Paid Service 

Group Manager Customer First and Support Services 
 Section 151 Officer 
 Group Manager Commercial Services 
 Group Manager Business Development 
 COP Lead Environmental Health 
 COP Lead Assets 
 Specialist Place Making 
 Commissioning Manager  

Specialist Democratic Services 
 

Other Members in attendance: 
Cllrs Lamb and Moyse 

 
 
*HC 40 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and the following were made: 
 
Cllr Edmonds declared a personal interest in item 16:  ‘Supporting the 
Formation of a South West Mutual’ (Minute HC 52 below refers) by virtue of 
one of the trustee directors being a former bank colleague and living near 
him, and he remained in the meeting and took part in the debate and vote 
thereon; 
 
Cllr Leech declared a personal interest in item 11:  ‘Okehampton Land 
Disposal’ (Minute *HC 47 below refers) by virtue of being a member of 
Okehampton Town Council and he remained in the meeting and took part in 
the debate and abstained from taking part in the vote. 

 
 
*HC 41          MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 16 October 2018 were 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



*HC 42          EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
   

RESOLVED 
 
That in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of the following item of 
business as the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act is involved. 

 
 
*HC 43          WASTE PROCUREMENT – VERBAL UPDATE 

(Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 

 
The Lead Member for Commercial Services provided an exempt verbal 
update to Members on the progress of the Waste Procurement project.  A 
report would be presented to the next full Council meeting on Tuesday, 4 
December 2018. 

 
 
*HC 44          READMITTANCE OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 

 
 
*HC 45          FINANCIAL STABILITY REVIEW GROUP UPDATE 

In accordance with the Council decision at its meeting on 27 March 2018 
(Minute CM 73 refers) for updates to be included as a standing agenda item,  
the Lead Member for Assets and Environment presented Members with a 
briefing note that provided an update on the recent work of the Financial Stability 
Review Group.  He also confirmed that a further note would be circulated to 
Members setting out cost savings to date. 
 
During discussion, the Lead Member and the s151 Officer responded to a 
number of questions and provided updates as follows: 
 

• The s151 Officer would be corresponding with colleagues at Devon 
County Council and the Actuary to discuss options related to the pension 
strategy e.g. affordability considerations.  Currently, the Council’s 
pension deficit would be repaid in 17 years, whilst other authorities within 
Devon had a longer payback time.   

 

• The s151 officer had met with the Treasury Minister for Local 
Government, who had intimated that negative revenue support grant 
would be eliminated for 2019/20. 

 

• 16 Members had completed the budget survey and the results would be 
incorporated into the budget savings that would be reported to the next 
meeting of the Hub Committee on 4 December 2018.  One of the 
outcomes of the survey was that the majority of Members were not 
minded to support the investment with the CCLA. 

 



• The s151 officer expected the New Homes Bonus baseline threshold to 
rise from 0.4% to 0.6%.  If this was the case, it would mean that New 
Homes Bonus would only be paid after the building of approximately 150 
properties. 

 

• The s151 officer confirmed that training would be arranged for Members 
on Treasury Management, in advance of the full Council meeting in 
January 2019. 

 
   HC 46         ANNUAL REVIEW OF HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY STATEMENT 

Members were presented with a report that sought recommendation to full 
Council of the adoption of the revised Health and Safety Policy Statement.   
The Council was required to prepare a written health and safety policy 
statement by the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974.  The policy should 
be agreed and signed off by the Head of Paid Service and Leader of 
Council. 
 
The Leader of Council introduced the report and outlined the importance of 
the document.  One Member confirmed that at no point had she been 
asked to complete a risk assessment, despite Members being exposed to 
the same risks as officers.  In response, the COP Lead Environmental 
Health confirmed that health and safety training would be included in the 
Member Induction Programme in May 2019.  He also confirmed that the 
focus had been on high risk activities as per the agreed health and safety 
work programme, but there would be further work on all elements of health 
and safety.  The Head of Paid Service confirmed that prior to presentation 
at Council, the Policy Statement would be amended to ensure reference to 
Members. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee RECOMMEND to Council 
that the revised policy be adopted and signed by the Head of Paid Service 
and Leader of Council. 

 
 
 *HC 47         OKEHAMPTON LAND DISPOSAL 

Members were presented with a report that set out details of land transfers 
from the Borough Council to Okehampton Hamlets Parish Council and 
Okehampton Town Council.  It was presented to Hub Committee because 
one of the transfers had included a public toilet. 
 
The Lead Member for Assets and Environment introduced the report. In 
response to a query regarding change of use, the COP Lead Assets 
confirmed that the transfer would state that the land could not be used for 
another use, without the permission of the local authority.  He did not feel it 
was an explicit condition, but rather an implied one. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that the land transfers to Okehampton Hamlets 
Parish Council and Okehampton Town Council (as set out in the presented 
agenda report) be noted. 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 



HC 48 BROOK STREET CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT CONTRACT 
Members were presented with a report that sought approval to tender for 
works to refurbish Brook Street Car Park, and to recommend to full Council 
that the contract be awarded to the bidder who scored highest, and to fund 
the share of the cost that was the responsibility of the Council from the Car 
Parking Maintenance Earmarked Reserve. 
 
The Lead Member for Commercial Services presented the report.  Some 
Members felt it may not be appropriate for the Hub Committee to make 
recommendations to Council without knowledge of the cost of the work, and 
therefore recommendations 2 and 3 were amended to include ‘with the 
approval of the s151 officer in consultation with the Lead Hub Member’. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. to tender for the work required to refurbish Brook Street car park and 

stairwells be approved;  
 
That Hub Committee RECOMMEND to Council that, subject to the 
approval of the s151 officer, in consultation with the Lead Hub 
Member, that: 
 

2. the contract be awarded to the bidder who scores highest during 
evaluation; and 

3. the 40% share of cost payable by the Council is funded from the Car 
Parking Maintenance Earmarked Reserve. 
 

 
 

*HC 49          RELEASE OF S106 FUNDS FOR OPEN SPACE, SPORT AND 
RECREATION PROJECTS 
Members were presented with a report that anticipated expenditure of funds 
already held by West Devon Borough Council, and those committed in s106 
agreements yet to be triggered by development.  Approval would enable a 
long term and comprehensive approach to be taken to projects and allow 
Town and Parish Councils, community groups and other organisations to 
plan and phase projects and maximise chances to gain match funding from 
other sources. 
 
The Lead Member for Customer First presented the report and the Specialist 
Place Making responded to questions. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The release or allocation of s106 funds for Open Space, Sport and 

Recreation projects as set out in the report be approved; 
2. Where a project is identified, that agreement of specific details be 

delegated to the relevant Specialist in consultation with the local Ward 
Member(s) and the Portfolio Holder for Customer First; 

3. Where an Open Space, Sport and Recreation Plan is proposed, that 
agreement of details of specific projects within the plan be delegated 
to the relevant Specialist in consultation with the local Ward 
Members(s) and the Portfolio Holder for Customer First; and 

 
 



4. Agreement to any substitution of alternative projects to those 
identified in Table 1 of the presented agenda report shall be 
delegated to the relevant Specialist in consultation with the local Ward 
Member(s) and Portfolio Holder for Customer First, subject to the 
alternative being in accordance with the s106 agreement and meeting 
pooling restrictions. 

 
 

 *HC 50         CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY  
Members were presented with a report that detailed the scores achieved by 
the Council as part of a recent Institute of Customer Service customer 
satisfaction benchmark survey.  It also included recommended next steps to 
improve the Council’s customer satisfaction scores. 
 
The Lead Member for Customer First introduced the report.  During 
discussion some Members felt that the presented recommendation 3, stating 
that progress against the Customer Service Action Plan should be a standing 
agenda item at every Hub Committee, should be amended, as this 
monitoring was a scrutiny function.  It was PROPOSED, SECONDED and on 
being put to the vote declared CARRIED, that recommendation 3 be 
amended to Overview and Scrutiny Committee rather than Hub Committee. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The results from the recent Customer Satisfaction Survey be noted 

and the proposed actions as detailed in section 5 of the report be 
endorsed; 

2. The proposed Customer Service Standards as detailed in Appendix D 
of the report be supported; and 

3. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee be asked to amend its Work 
Programme whereby ‘Progress against the Customer Service Action 
Plan’ be included as a standing agenda item for consideration. 

 
 

   HC 51        HEART OF THE SOUTH WEST JOINT COMMITTEE UPDATE 
The Heart of the South West Joint Committee was formally established in 
January 2018 by the councils and organisations involved since 2015 in the 
devolution partnership.  The Committee was tasked with improving 
productivity across the Heart of the South West (HotSW) area in 
collaboration with the HotSW LEP and other organisations as necessary. 
 
Members were presented with a report that summarised the progress made 
by the Joint Committee over recent months in key areas of activity and set 
out actions proposed in the coming months.  The report included specific 
recommendations for consideration. 
 
The Leader introduced the report.   

 
It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee RECOMMEND to Council 
to: 
 
(a) Note the progress report setting out the work of the Heart of the South 

West (HotSW) Joint Committee since its establishment in March 2018; 
 
 



(b) Agree to delegate the development and endorsement of the HotSW Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS) to the HotSW Joint Committee (noting that final 
approval of the HotSWLIS rests with the HotSW Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and the Government); 

 
(c) Note the Heart of the South West Joint Committee Budget statement for 

2018/19 (as set out in Appendix B of the presented agenda report) and 
that in accordance with the decisions taken at the time the Committee 
was established the Council will be asked to make an annual budgetary 
provision (£1,400 for West Devon Borough Council) to meet the support 
costs of the Joint Committee in line with the 2018/19 contribution.  Final 
clarification on any additional 2019/20 Heart of the South West Joint 
Committee budget requirement will be provided following the completion 
of the review of the Joint Committee’s role, function and management 
support arrangements and development of its work programme for 
2019/20; and 
 

(d) Agree the Budget and Cost-sharing Agreement (as set out in Appendix B 
of the presented agenda report). 

 
 

  HC 52         SUPPORTING THE FORMATION OF THE SOUTH WEST MUTUAL 
Members were presented with a report that sought a recommendation to full 
Council to support the formation of the South West Mutual.  A previous 
presentation had outlined to Members the benefits that a South West Mutual 
Bank would bring to the community.  The report clearly set out the potential 
risks of investment at this stage. 
 
The Lead Member for Economy presented the report and explained that the 
investment requested should be considered as a grant.  During discussion, 
some Members confirmed their support for the principle of the South West 
Mutual, but had reservations regarding financial support at this time as the 
benefits to Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) would take some 
time to materialise and whether this was the best use of these funds at the 
current time. 
 
It was noted that a number of authorities across Devon intended to support 
the proposal, and, on balance, the positive outcomes from supporting the 
proposal would outweigh the reservations. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Hub Committee RECOMMEND to Council to: 
 
1. Approve the granting of £49,995 from the 2018/19 business rate pilot gain 

in order to support the formation of South West Mutual as detailed in 
section 3 and Appendix 2 of the report;  

2. If recommendation 1 is approved, Delegate authority to the Group 
Manager, Business Development, to conclude the ordinary share 
acquisition; and 

3. Agree that, where possible, officers support the formation of the mutual 
by promoting it to local authorities within the South West. 

 
 

 *HC 53         LEAD MEMBER UPDATE – CLLR ROBERTS 
Cllr Roberts updated the Committee on the latest position with a number of 
services within her area, including the following: 
 



Customer Contact Centre – the number of calls to the Contact Centre was 
decreasing, and the wait time for calls to be answered was also declining but 
this was more variable.   
 
A pilot had been running since August 2018 that saw Customer Contact 
Centre staff sitting with Benefits Case Managers, and this had reduced the 
call waiting time for Benefits calls from seven minutes to one minute. 
 
Localities – a briefing had been presented to the last Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting, which gave full information on the service. 
 
A further Localities issue was the Okehampton ‘office’ which currently 
provided a service for two days a week.  Initial figures showed that there was 
a customer visiting every 35 minutes, but if collection of recycling boxes is 
taken out of the figures, then there is a customer every one hour and forty 
eight minutes.  The Member confirmed that a Task and Finish Group would 
be reviewing this provision in the upcoming months and there was Hub 
Committee Member representation on this Group. 
 
Finally, there had been a dip in Development Management performance 
during August 2018 as a result of a staff shortage.  One post had now been 
filled but this employee would not start until February 2019, and in the 
meantime agency staff were being used.  In spite of this, performance for 
October 2018 had improved. 
 
There were no questions arising from the update, and the Chairman thanked 
the Lead Member for a succinct and comprehensive update. 

 
 

(The meeting terminated at 4:20pm) 
 

 
_____________ 
Chairman

 
 
(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF  
HC46, HC48 (2), (3), HC51 AND HC52, WHICH ARE  
RECOMMENDATION TO FULL COUNCIL ON 4 DECEMBER, 2018 
WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM WEDNESDAY  
28 NOVEMBER 2018 UNLESS CALLED IN, IN  
ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18). 

 





 
 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 4 December 2018 

Title: Quarter 2 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2018/2019 

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Internal 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Roderick Hewson Role: Finance Business Partner 

Contact: Tel. 01822 813582                                                           
E-mail: roderick.hewson@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:- 

i. To note the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 

2018/19 financial year and the overall projected underspend of 
£57,000. 

ii. To recommend to Council to transfer £100,000 of the additional 

planning income into the Planning Policy and Major Developments 
Earmarked Reserve at the end of the 2018/19 financial year.  

 
 

1. Executive summary  
 
1) This report enables Members to monitor income and expenditure 

variations against the approved budget for 2018/19, and provides a 
forecast for the year end position. 

 
 

2. Background  
 
1) The Council’s finance procedure rules require budget monitoring reports 

to be made on a regular basis to the Hub Committee as part of the 
Council’s arrangements for budget management. 

 



 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

1) Budget Overview 
The gross service expenditure budget for 2018/19 was set at £25.2 

million (£7.31 million net). The actual net revenue expenditure is 
forecast to be under budget by £57,000 when compared against 
the total budget set for 2018/19. This is mainly due to additional 

planning income following the receipt of several large planning 
applications in the second quarter of 2018/19.  

 
 
3.1 Table 1 below provides an analysis of the projected variances against 

budget. 
 
          TABLE 1: 2018/19 BUDGET FORECAST 

 

                                                                       2018/19 

Budget 
expenditure

/(Income) 

 

Budget variations 
 

 

 

Note 

 £’000 % £’000 £’000  

APPROVED BUDGET     7,314  

Reductions in 

expenditure/additional 
income 

 

 

    

Customer First      

Planning income (333) (54.1%) (180)  A 

Support Services      

Trading opportunities 

income (e.g. HR) 

- - (8)  B 

Strategy & 

Commissioning 

     

Senior Leadership Team – 

Interim Arrangements 

195 (17.4%) (34)  C 

Financing and 

Investment 

     

Commercial Property net 

investment income 

(100) (90.0%) (90)  D 

Sub total of variations          (312)          

      Increases in 

expenditure/reductions 
in income 

     

Commercial Services      

Car Parking income (1,006) 4.0% 40  E 

Customer First      

Review of 

accommodation/office 
requirements 

(82) 12.2% 10  F 

Support Services      

ICT costs – support 

contracts 

300 28.3% 85  G 



 
 

                                                                       2018/19 

Budget 
expenditure

/(Income) 

 

Budget variations 
 

 

 

Note 

Financing and 

Investment 

     

Investment income (90) 22.2% 20  H 

Sub total of variations    155  

      Transfers to Earmarked 
Reserves 

     

Planning Policy & Major 
Developments Earmarked 
Reserve 

- - 100 100 A 

PROJECTED OUTTURN    7,257  

      
PROJECTED 

UNDERSPEND  

      (57)  

 

 
Notes 

 

A. Planning income – additional planning income of £180,000 is 
currently anticipated for 2018/19 due to a number of large 

applications being received in quarter 2. These planning 
applications included developments at Callington Road, Crediton 
Road and land north of Crediton Road. This additional income 

equates to 54.1% of the target of £333,000. £100,000 of this 
income is requested to be set aside in the Planning Policy & Major 

Developments Earmarked Reserve to support peaks and troughs in 
the planning service and to fund unbudgeted one off costs 
generated from Planning Appeals.  

 
B. Support Services trading income (e.g. HR and Support 

Services) – Support Services have developed a number of small 
scale trading opportunities by way of providing support to other 
Councils’ Transformation Programmes. There is expected to be an 

income surplus from this of approximately £8,000.   
 

C. Senior Leadership Team – following the approval of the Senior 
Leadership Team interim arrangements by Council in December 
2017 a saving of £34,000 (WDBC’s share) is anticipated in 

2018/19. 
 

D. Commercial Property net investment income – the commercial 
property strategy was implemented in April 2018 and three 
commercial properties have been purchased to date in 2018/19. 

This is anticipated to generate an additional £90,000 net income in 
2018/19 (in addition to the £100,000 budgeted). The Council has 

formulated a comprehensive portfolio monitoring report on the 
Council’s commercial investments. This was presented to the Audit 

Committee on the 9th of October.  



 
 

E. Car parking income – a shortfall in car parking income of £40,000 
is currently projected. This equates to 4.0% of the income 

projection (£1,006,000). This budget includes additional income for 
2018/19 to reflect an increase in the all day long stay tariff from 

£2.00 to £2.50. As the new charges were not implemented until 2 
July 2018, following the consultation period, an income shortfall is 
anticipated in 2018/19.  

 
F. Review of Accommodation/Office requirements – savings are 

expected to be in the region of £72,000 in 2018/19 leaving a small 
shortfall of £10,000 (12.2%). This variance relates to the business 
rates and utility costs in respect of St James, Okehampton for which 

the Council is still liable. 
 

G. ICT support contract costs – There are additional recurring costs 
in respect of ICT support contracts of approximately £85,000. The 
ICT budget was set assuming that the Civica solutions introduced 

by the T18 Transformation Programme would perform as 
required.  In practice, additional solutions were procured in order 

to maintain services where using the Civica solution was not 
practical. Purchase of the following systems, which were previously 

unbudgeted for, was required: 
 

• Northgate Land Charges 

• Clear Core Clear Core (enables single customer record)  
• IEG4 Revenues and Benefits to facilitate “My Account” for 

customers 
• Northgate Gazetteer – address database 
• IEG4 software – Automatic processing of changes of 

circumstances for revenues 
 

H. Investment income – a shortfall in investment income of 
£20,000 is currently anticipated for 2018/19. Following a review of 
the Treasury Management Strategy the Council agreed to widen 

the Counterparty list for investments and it was expected that extra 
income would be generated. However, this is looking unachievable 

in 2018/19 due to the need to keep investments short-term in 
order to meet cash flow requirements. This target could be 
achieved in the future due to receipt of rental income from the new 

commercial property. 
 

 
 

2) Savings/Additional Income identified in the 2018/19 Budget  

This monitoring report includes an update on the position regarding the 
savings and additional income that were identified in the 2018/19 budget 

setting process. Please see Appendix B for further information.  
 
 

 
 

 



 
 

4. Management Actions 
 
The table below sets out the relevant management actions for the 
revenue expenditure and income variations shown above. It is best 
practice for the Council to state whether there are any corrective actions 

that need to be taken for the variances identified in 2018/19. 
 

 

                                                                       Budget 

variations 
overspend/ 

(underspend) 

 

Management Action 

 £’000  

Reductions in 
expenditure/ 
additional income 

  

Planning income (180) £50,000 additional income has 
been built into the 2019/20 

budget. It is recommended that 
£100,000 of the additional income 

in 2018/19 be put into an 
earmarked reserve at the end of 
the financial year. 

Senior Leadership 
Team – Interim 

Arrangements 

(34) During 2019/20 the Council will be 
reviewing its senior leadership 

team structure across both 
Councils and presenting options to 

Members for a decision within the 
first six months of the new Council. 
This saving of £34,000 has been 

included within the 2019/20 
budget proposals. 

Commercial Property 
net investment 

income 

       (90) The Council has formulated a 
comprehensive portfolio 

monitoring report on the Council’s 
commercial investments. This was 
presented to the Audit Committee 

on the 9th of October.  

Car parking income 40 Income levels will be kept under 

review in 2018/19. 

Review of 

accommodation/offic
e requirements 

10 This is a one off pressure in 

2018/19. A planning application for 
a change of use of St James, 

Okehampton has been submitted. 

ICT costs 85 £95,000 has been built into the 
2019/20 budget as a cost pressure. 

Investment income 20 This will be kept under review 
during 2018/19. 

 
 

 



 
 

5. Prudential Indicators 
 

The prudential code indicators were approved in the Treasury 
Management Strategy report to the Audit Committee on 20 March 

2018. The indicators are monitored during the year through the 
normal revenue and capital monitoring processes. Any exceptions are 
reported to the Audit Committee. To date all Treasury Management 

limits have been adhered to. The Treasury Management Indicators 
set out the level of predicted capital expenditure and borrowing 

requirements. 
 

6. Review of Earmarked Reserves 

 
The Council annually undertakes a review of the level of its 

Earmarked Reserves as part of the budget setting process. A 
schedule of Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix A with their 
proposed use. 

 
Annually transfers are made from Earmarked Reserves to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as part of the 
closure of the end of year Accounts. As the accounting entries can be 

identified at an early stage, a recommendation is made to Council to 
agree the accounting entries in 2018/19. Only Council can approve 
the use of Earmarked Reserves. 

 
7. Income and Reserves 

 
Income monitoring is an integral part of financial management. 
Current income forecasts are as follows: 

 

Service Actual 

Income 
2017/18 

 
£’000 

Income 

Budget 
2018/19 

 
£’000 

Projected 

Income 
2018/19 

 
£’000 

Deficit/ 

(Surplus) 
 

 
£’000 

Deficit/ 

(Surplus) 
 

 
% 

Car Parks 860 1,006 966 40 4.0% 

Employment 

Estates 

343 290 290 - - 

Land Charges 95 110 110 - - 

Planning 
Applications 

314 333 513 (180) (54.1%) 

Recycling Credits 260 265 265 - - 

Investment 
Income 

58 90 70 20 22.2% 

Commercial 

Property gross 
rental income – 
Note A 

- 480 910 (430) (89.6%) 

TOTAL 1,930 2,574 3,124 (550) (21.4%) 

 



 
 

Note A 
The commercial property income figures above relate to the gross rental 

income for 2018/19. The favourable income variance included in the 
monitoring report of £90,000 is a net figure anticipated for 2018/19 after 

deducting all relevant costs from the rental income. 
 
The decision on the level of balances and reserves is taken during the 

formulation of the annual budget and the medium term financial strategy. 
As a matter of prudence the Council has set aside various amounts in 

reserves to cover future liabilities and items of expenditure and these are 
attached as Appendix A. 
 

 
8. Issues that may impact on the budget monitoring position in 

the next 3 months/Risks 

 
The budget monitoring position assumes that collection rates will remain 
at previous levels.  

 
 

9.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

1) Revenue budget monitoring will continue on a regular basis and further 
reports will be brought to the Hub Committee on a quarterly basis. 
 

 
10. Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y The Statutory Powers that apply to this report are 

the Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 and 
the Local Government Act 2003 Section 28. 

Financial 
 

Y The report identifies an overall underspend of 
£57,000 which equates to 0.8% of the overall 

budget set for 2018/19 of £7.314 million, mainly 
due to the surplus income from Planning Fees. 
 

It is recommended to Council to transfer £100,000 
of the additional planning income to the Planning 

Policy & Major Developments Earmarked Reserve. 
 

Annually transfers are made from Earmarked 
Reserves to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Account as part of the closure of the end 

of year Accounts.  
As the accounting entries can be identified at an 

early stage, a recommendation is made to Council 
to agree the accounting entries in 2018/19.  
Only Council can approve the use of Earmarked 

Reserves. 



 
 

 

Risk Y Budget variances – continual budget monitoring at 
all levels within the Council ensures early 

identification of variances. Reporting to the Hub 
Committee provides an opportunity for Members to 
identify and instigate remedial action where 

appropriate.  
 

 Resource Planning – the Hub Committee takes 
into account any significant issues when developing 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 These are identified in the Management Actions 
section of the report (Section 4). 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

 None directly arising from this report.   

Safeguarding 

 

 None directly arising from this report. 

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other 
implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendix A – Reserves 

Appendix B – Savings/Additional income Schedule 
 

Background Papers: 
Finance Community of Practice budget monitoring working papers 

Medium Term Financial Position 2019/20 onwards – HUB Committee 11 
September 2018. 
 

 
Approval and clearance of report 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  No 

SLT Rep briefed No 

Relevant Exec Director sign off (draft) No 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 



APPENDIX  A

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES APPENDIX A

Opening Additions Predicted Projected

balance to the spend balance

1.4.2018 Reserve 31.3.2019 Comments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EARMARKED RESERVES

 

Specific Reserves - General Fund

Business Rates Retention Scheme (509) 0 350 (159)

This relates to a timing issue on the accounting adjustments 

required for the localisation of business rates. This reserve 

also deals with any volatility in Business Rate income e.g. due 

to appeals. 

Car Parking Maintenance (386) 0 205 (181)

Commitment relates to statutory tree work and Brook Street 

Car Park as well as £30,000 for Council Owned Asset 

Investment & Development (minute ref HC 4).

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency (382) 0 148 (234)

This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 

Earmarked Reserve. Commitment of £76,000 relates to the 

balance of the JSG funding and £65,000 capital funding

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) (724) 0 288 (436)
Commitment relates to purchase of land & survey Costs, 

Okehampton £279,000, Lottery set up costs £6,500 

T18 Strategic Change (287) (10) 129 (168)

To meet redundancy and pension strain costs (one off 

investment costs funded by savings) from the T18 

Transformation Programme.

Cannons Meadow, Tavistock (13) 0 3 (10) Written down to revenue annually

Elections (24) 0 0 (24)

Neighbourhood Planning Grants (47) 0 4 (43) Examiner fees in 2018/19

Economic Grant Initiatives (23) 0 0 (23)

Flood Works (15) 0 0 (15)

Homelessness Prevention (95) 0 0 (95)

New Homes Bonus (225) (643) 850 (18)
Commitment includes £560,000 to fund the 2018/19 Revenue 

budget and £252,000 for the Capital Programme 

Planning Policy and Major Developments (44) (155) 79 (120)

Joint Local Plan Funding transferred to a separate reserve. 

The additions to the reserve include a proposed contribution of 

£100,000 which forms part of the recommendations to this 

revenue monitoring report.

Invest to Save (27) 0 23 (4)
The commitment relates to the Council Owned Asset 

Investment and Development (minute ref HC 4)

ICT Development (30) (25) 55 0
Most of this reserve has been committed to the ICON 

replacement

Waste & Cleansing Options Review (80) 0 0 (80) To cover the cost of procurement and waste initiatives

Community Housing Fund (243) 0 0 (243)

Leisure Services (231) 0 174 (57) Leisure Centre investment

Maintenance Fund (Estates) (223) 0 0 (223)

Revenue Grants (220) 0 8 (212)

Support Services Trading Opportunities (8) 0 0 (8)

Grounds Maintenance (49) 0 0 (49)

Outdoor Sports & Recreation Grants (18) 0 0 (18)

Environmental Health (20) 0 0 (20)

Section 106 Monitoring (19) 0 0 (19)

Joint Local Plan 0 (86) 86 0 New reserve for Joint Local Plan Funding

Other Reserves below £15,000 (73) 0 0 (73)

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES (4,015) (919) 2,402 (2,532)

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES (1,197) (57) 0 (1,254) Projected underspend of £57,000 for 2018/19

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES                                

(EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED 

RESERVES)

(5,212) (976) 2,402 (3,786)





Summary of Savings and Additional Income from the 2018-19 Budget Setting Process APPENDIX B

The table below summarises the savings and additional income that were included in the 2018-19 Budget Setting process and indicates whether

the saving/additional income is on track to be delivered.

Savings and Additional Income for the 2018-19 Budget Target (£)

Latest 

projection for 

2018/19 (£)

Narrative

1 Income from Investments in Commercial Property 100,000 190,000

The Council’s ancillary income from Investments in 

Commercial Property is currently projected to 

achieve an additional £90,000 in 2018/19.

2 Opt-in charged garden waste service 122,500 122,500
The Council is projected to meet this additional net 

income.

3 Car Parking income 180,000 140,000

The overall income budget for daily parking was 

increased by £220k to reflect the new car parking 

tariffs (from July 2018), but this looks unachievable 

for the year with a small potential shortfall in 

income of £40k.

4
Additional car parking income (to reflect the current increase in use in 

2017/18
40,000 40,000 On track to achieve this income

5
Review of Accommodation/Office requirements (effective from 1st April 

2018)
82,000 72,000

£10,000 of these savings have not yet been 

realised due to the Council still paying Business 

Rates and utility costs in respect of St James, 

Okehampton. A planning application for change of 

use has been submitted.

6
Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments (increase income target to 

reflect actual income achieved)
85,000 85,000

It is expected that the £85k income target will be 

achieved. The year-end position will be reviewed in 

detail in quarter 3.

7

Cessation of accepting cash and cheques – To remove the facility for 

accepting cash and cheques at Council premises, excluding Car 

Parks.  Customers (as now) will be able to pay by cash or cheques via 

Paypoint or at Post Office.

35,000 35,000

Data for the  second quarter demonstrates 

projected budget savings will be met. Temporary 

arrangements have been put into place for 

Parish/Town Councils who are unable to pay using 

any other method apart from cheques, whilst they 

move across to online banking.

8 Planning Fees 15,000 189,500

The Planning Fees budget was increased by 

£15,000 and the budget monitoring position shows 

this will be exceeded by £174,500 in planning fee 

income and a further £5,500 from duty planning 

income (see item 15 below). This correlates to the 

total planning income variance shown in note A of 

the monitoring report (£180,000).

9 Reduction in Partnership funding 15,330 13,000
Devon Rail Partnership funding budget of circa £2k 

has previously been removed.

10 Extra treasury management income 20,000 0

This income target is unlikely to be achieved in 

2018/19. Following a review of the Treasury 

Management Strategy the Council agreed to widen 

the Counterparty list for investments and it was 

expected that extra income would be generated. 

However, this is looking unachievable in 2018/19 

due to the need to keep investments short-term in 

order to meet cash flow requirements. This target 

could be achieved in the future due to receipt of 

rental income from the new commercial property.

11 Trade waste income 15,000 15,000 On track to achieve this income

12 Introduction of Direct Lets Scheme 10,000 10,000
On track to achieve this saving. To date we have 

taken on four properties.

13 Paperless Committee agendas 3,500 3,500

The Council has implemented the changes to 

paperless Committee agendas and the saving is 

expected to be achieved.

14
Council Tax Reduction Scheme – 8.6% reduction in Town and Parish 

Grant
6,100 6,100

All Town and Parish Councils were notified of their 

2018/19 grant levels, which represented a 

reduction of 8.6%.

15 Charging for Duty Planning Service 6,500 12,000

The duty planning service has been well received 

and the Council is anticipating additional income of 

£12,000 in 2018/19.

16 Charging for food advice/environmental health fees and charges 5,000 5,000

The new charges have been implemented and it is 

envisaged the additional income is on track to be 

delivered.

17 Savings from the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 35,000 35,000
These savings have been delivered through the 

Insurance procurement process.

18 Saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 8,000 8,000

The saving has been delivered. The Council has 

been notified of its audit fees for 2018/19 by Grant 

Thornton and these equate to £30,335, 

representing a 23% reduction.

TOTAL £783,930 £987,600





 
 

 
 

 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 4th December 2018 

Title: Capital Budget Monitoring 2018/2019 

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Angela Endean 

Pauline Henstock 

Role: Accountant 

Finance Community of 

Practice Lead 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861480                                                           

E-mail: angela.endean@swdevon.gov.uk 

Tel. 01803 861377 

Email: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:- 

i. To endorse the contents of the Report. 
 

 

1. Executive summary  

 
The report advises Members of the financial position as at 30th 
September 2018 for the purposes of budget monitoring. All capital 

projects are within the individual capital budgets approved by 
Members. Therefore capital schemes are within budget. 

 
The total capital budget for 2018/19 is £22,609,815 of which 

£20,621,576 has been spent to date (Appendix A). 



 
 

 
 

The capital programme is currently underspent in comparison to the 
budgets, due mainly to the purchase price of commercial properties 
being less than anticipated and the purchase of land in Okehampton 
not completing until October 2018. In addition, expenditure on 
Improvement Grants (Disabled Facilities Grants) is £144,000 at 
Month 6, compared to the budget for 18/19 of £551,100. 
 
2. Background  

 
The capital programme for 2018/19 was approved by Council on 20 
February 2018 (CM57 and HC61 refer). This report provides an 
update on the Capital Programme. 
 
3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

Members are requested to note the following updates on Capital  
Projects: 

Community Project Grants (previously Village Hall & Community 
Project Grants) 
 
There is no additional budget allocation for Community Project Grants 
in 2018/19 however there is a budget of £67,377 from underspends 
in previous years.  
 
Expenditure to date in 2018/19 is £13,418 with a further £16,474 
being committed against the budget.  It is a reactive scheme, so it is 
difficult to forecast future expenditure, but it is thought a further 
£10,000 may be spent before the end of the financial year.  The 
remainder will be retained for projects during 2019/20.  Amongst 
other projects, funds have been committed to the Chagford Film 
Festival and an underfloor heating system for Gulworthy Parish Hall. 
 
Compared with the previous year, there are now other funding 
schemes available to users of this grant scheme, i.e. SeaMoor Lotto, 
Crowdfunding and the Communities Together Fund. There is merit in 
this scheme being retained as it would benefit projects that are 
unlikely to be supported in other ways.  S106 Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation funds could also be channelled towards such projects in 
the future.   
 
No budget is being recommended to be set aside to fund this grant 
scheme for 2019/20 (this will be proposed as part of the 2019/20 
Budget Proposals report).  It is felt that this is acceptable given the 
current fund will not be fully spent.  For 2020/21 onwards, it will be 
proposed that £36k per annum is allocated into this grant fund.   
 



 
 

 
 

Leisure Investment  
 
Investment in both Meadowlands, Tavistock and Parklands, 
Okehampton is being made in accordance with the capital drawdown 
schedule. 
 

Meadowlands Leisure Centre, Tavistock - Phase 1 on pool side 
refurbishment of changing rooms was completed in March 2018. 
Phase 2 main redevelopment works to provide a new gym, studio 
space and café started in April 2018 and are well underway, all the 
new blockwork and structural steel works have been completed and 
the roof is on.  A planned 2 days closure took place in June and long 
standing issues with humidity and condensation have now been 
resolved. The overall completion has been put back to mid December. 
The main entrance is now closed for the last stage of the works and 
entry is via a temporary entrance at the rear of the building. 
 
Parklands Leisure Centre, Okehampton - ground floor refurbishment 
works were completed in May for dry changing rooms and new 
reception turnstiles. Also completed in the next month was the gym 
air conditioning and new gym kit. The works on the new first floor 
studio space started in the first week of August and are now 
completed and the studio space opened in October. The contractor is 
currently obtaining a quote for a repair to the moveable floor. 
 
 

Affordable Housing  
 
The budget for Affordable Housing in 2018/19 is £50,000.  The 
budget brought forward from previous years is £89,000 giving a total 
of £139,000 available in 2018/19. 
 
In recent times the capital programme has facilitated affordable 
housing developments in rural areas by providing a sum of money, 
normally between £10,000 and £15,000 per plot, to enable the 
development to proceed.  These schemes are typically on exception 
sites and therefore do not rely on cross subsidy from open market 
properties, evidence from a Registered Provider (RP) is provided to 
ensure  additional  money is required to make the scheme 
viable.  Money is normally required where there are abnormals on the 
site or there is a shortage of public subsidy.   
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

In 2017/18 £50,000, 50% of an agreed contribution, was made 
towards Cannonsmead Cottages, South Tawton.  This is a scheme of 
6 units of rented accommodation owned and managed by Rural 
Specialists Hastoe Housing.  There was a larger funding gap than 
expected at South Tawton due to abnormals and the amount of time 
taken for the much needed affordable housing units to come 
forward.  The remaining £50,000 was paid to Hastoe in October on 
completion and occupation of the development.  The properties were 
advertised through Devon Home Choice and have been occupied by 
people with a local connection to South Tawton. An opening ceremony 
will take place in the New Year. 
 
This will leave £89,000 in the affordable housing capital programme.   
 
 
Tenants Incentive Scheme 
 
The Tenants incentive Scheme offers an incentive payment to tenants 
of Social Landlords who wish to downsize. This frees up larger 
accommodation for families on our housing register or in temporary 
accommodation.  
 
It also prevents the spiral of debt tenants may find themselves in if 
they are affected by the spare room subsidy (sometimes referred to 
as the “bedroom tax”) and cannot afford to pay increased rents or 
the cost of moving. A common use of the incentive payment is where 
older people move to a property where there are no carpets.  
Payments can be made to provide carpeting in the property, 
combating the risk of trips and falls and possible hospital admissions. 
A sum of £3,500 has been spent to date from a budget of £36,348. 
 
 
Private Sector Renewals including Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s)  
 
As at the end of September (Month 6), £144,349 has been spent 
compared to the budget for 18/19 of £551,087. 
 
A further £49,000 has already been approved (committed) and 
there are further Statements of Need being progressed which total 
another £255,000. 
   
Old Mill Site, Okehampton 
 
The Council is evaluating options for site re-development in order to 
bring the site back into use in some guise.  The capital budget of 
£22,925 will be retained for this purpose. 



 
 

 
 

Waste Fleet 
 
All vehicles for the new waste fleet have now been purchased and are 
in use.  Expenditure to the end of September (month 6) is £949,503 
bringing the total spend to £2,602,249 (an amount of £1,652,746 
was spent in 2017-18). This represents an overspend of less than 
0.09% on the approved budget of £2,600,000. The fleet totals 35 
vehicles and includes dedicated refuse and recycling collection 
vehicles of various capacities. 
 
Purchase of Land – Okehampton 
 
The purchase of three undeveloped parcels of land in the centre of 
Okehampton was approved by Hub committee on 12 September 2017 
(HC 28 refers).  Of these three parcels, one completed on 7th 
November.  The other two parcels of land are with legal to negotiate 
the final terms. The purchase is anticipated to be within the approved 
capital budget of £255,000.    
 
Commercial Investment Properties 
 

On 5th December 2017 Council approved the recommendations of a 
report entitled “Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update”. 
This agreed to borrowing of up to £37.45m to implement the strategy 
that was adopted. 

Three purchases have been made to date totalling £18.725m plus 
costs (£19.020m) representing 51% of the agreed borrowing 
(£37.45m). 

As of 25/09/18, the commercial property acquisition strategy has 
been superseded by a new strategy which blends commercial 
acquisitions with in area developments. 

The average yield of the portfolio is 5.42% which is lower than the 
5.85% target for the end of the project but reflects the current 
‘appetite for risk’ of the Council through the Invest to Earn Group.  
Further purchases can look to raise this percentage if 5.85% remains 
as the target.  This target may be reviewed against the level of risk 
the Council is content to accept. 

The project has a property in each of the main asset classes – Office, 
Industrial and Retail. The capital expenditure on the Office asset class 
(Bristol)  includes the refurbishment which is part way through. 

A geographical spread within the SW peninsular has been achieved; 
Regional - Bristol, Sub-regional – Exeter, Local – Okehampton.  



 
 

 
 

Full details can be found in the Commercial Investment Property – 
Update and Monitoring Report which was taken to Audit Committee 
on 9th October 2018:  
 
http://mg.swdevon.lan/documents/s19568/Commercial%20Invest
ment%20Property%20Update%20and%20monitoring%20report.pdf  
 
Replacement Cash Receipting System  
 
On 25th September Council approved the funding of a replacement 
cash receipting system in the sum of £58,250 to be met from the ICT 
Earmarked Reserve (CM34 & HC32 refer). See Appendix A. The 
majority of this budget will be spent before the year end. 
 
Brook Street Car Park, Tavistock 

A report was presented to the Hub Committee on 20th November in 

respect of the Brook Street car park refurbishment contract.  This 

report contained a recommendation to Council to fund the WDBC 

share of the work (40%) from the Car Park Maintenance Earmarked 

Reserve. 

Public Conveniences – Pay on Entry  
 
On 17th July 2018 Hub Committee considered a report on the Public 

Conveniences Review. Section 3.9 of the report details a requirement 

for capital funding to be provided, anticipated to be in the region of 

£50,000 to 75,000 (HC 19 refers). The capital sum could be funded 

from the Strategic Change Earmarked Reserve and will be 

recommended to Council as part of the next update report on public 

conveniences to the Hub Committee. 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  

 
This is considered on a project by project basis as part of the project 
appraisal document and initial business case for each capital project. 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

This is considered on a project by project basis. 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

6. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 Statutory powers are provided by the S1 
Localism Act 2011 general power of 
competence. 
 
The capital programme is implemented in line 
with the Council’s legal requirements, which 
are examined on a project-by-project basis. 
To date there are no undue legal concerns. 
 
 

Financial 
 

 The total capital budget for 2018/19 is 
£22,609,815 of which £20,621,576 has been 
spent as at 30 September 2018 (Appendix A). 
 
All capital projects are within the individual 
capital budgets approved by Members 
(Appendix A). 
 
 
 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

 

Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Safeguarding 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 
 

Community Safety, 
Crime and 
Disorder 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 
 

Other implications  None 
 
 

 



 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Details of capital expenditure to 30th September 2018 
 

Background Papers:  
 

Revenue and Capital Budget proposals for 2018/19 - Council 20 
February 2018 (CM57 refers) 
Revenue and Capital Budget proposals for 2018/19 – Hub 6 February 
2018 (HC61 refers) 
Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 
If exempt information, public (part 1) 
report also drafted.  

N/a 

  



APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING to 30th September 2018

Budget 18-19 

(original)

Balances brought 

forward from 

previous years 

(underspend from the 

17/18 Capital 

Programme)

Total Budget for 

2018/19      

(including 

underspends 

brought forward)

Expenditure 

to 30th 

September 

2018

Total budget 

remaining for 

2018/19

Capital projects £ £ £ £ £

(A) (B) (A + B)

Community Project Grants 67,377 67,377 13,418 53,959

Leisure Investment Budget 481,874 481,874 481,874 0

Affordable Housing 50,000 89,000 139,000 139,000

Tenants Incentive Schemes 15,000 36,348 51,348 3,500 47,848

Public Sector Renewals inc Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG's) 450,000 101,087 551,087 144,349 406,738

Old Mill Site 22,925 22,925 22,925

Waste Fleet 947,254 947,254 949,503 (2,249)

Purchase of Land - Okehampton 255,000 255,000 8,688 246,312

Purchase of Supermarket, Okehampton* 3,600,500 3,600,500 3,571,999 28,501

Purchase of Office Block, Bristol* 12,690,200 12,690,200 11,794,381 895,819

Purchase of Industrial Units, Exeter* 3,745,000 3,745,000 3,653,864 91,136

Replacement Cash Receipting System (CM34/HC32) 58,250 58,250 58,250

Total 21,090,824 1,518,991 22,609,815 20,621,576 1,929,989

* This includes cost of acquisition





NOT FOR PUBLICATION   

Appendices C and D to this report are considered exempt under paragraph 3 

of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 in that it concerns the 

financial or business affairs of the Council.  

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 4th December 2018 

Title: Budget Proposals 2019-20 onwards 
update report  

Portfolio Area: Cllr P R Sanders - Budget Setting Process 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny  

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Group Manager for 
Strategic Finance 

(S151 Officer) 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413 

Email: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee: 
(i) Notes the forecast budget gap for 2019/20 of £0.269 million 

        and the position for future years 
 

(ii) Notes the current options identified and timescales for closing 

    the budget gap in 2019/20 and future years, to achieve long  
    term financial sustainability 

 
(iii) Approve the recommendations of the Financial Stability 

Review Group on Earmarked Reserves (10.2 and 10.3) and 
agree for these to be recommended in the final Budget 

Proposals report for 2019-20 presented to Council on 12th 
February 2019. 



1.  Executive summary  
1.1    The Council approved its Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 

2019-20 to 2023-24 at Council on 25th September 2018. This is based 
on a financial forecast over a rolling five year timeframe to 2023/24. 
The Council, along with other local authorities, has faced 
unprecedented reductions in Government funding since the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2010. Between 2009/10 and 
2019/20, the Council’s Core Government funding has reduced by £3 
million. 

 
1.2 West Devon has continued to work in partnership with South Hams 

District Council which has allowed West Devon Borough Council to 
achieve annual savings of £2.2 million and more importantly protect all 
statutory front line services.  
 

1.3 Between both Councils the annual shared services savings being 
achieved are over £6 million. However, the Councils continue to face 
considerable financial challenges as a result of uncertainty in the wider 
economy and constraints on public sector spending. 
 

1.4 West Devon Borough Council is currently forecasting a £269,000 
budget gap in 2019/20. The MTFS (September 18) assumes that 
negative RSG will be reduced to zero in 2019/20 - which improves the 
Council’s budget position by £0.3m for 2019/20. It is assumed that 
negative RSG remains in some form (e.g. as part of the business rates 
baseline reset) from 2020/21 onwards. 
 

1.5 There is a further budget gap of £568,000 in 2020/21. Therefore over 
the next two years the Council needs to close a budget gap of 
£837,000 (£269,000 in 19/20 and a further £568,000 by 20/21). 
 

1.6 It is important to note that the MTFS set out the budget strategy for the 
Council for the next five years, with annual reviews and updates when 
items are further known or are announced by the Government (e.g. the 
Provisional Finance Settlement will be announced by the Government 
on 6th December 2018). 
 

1.7    The MTFS approved at Council in September 2018 was the starting 
point for developing a meaningful five year strategy that has set out the 
strategic intention for all of the different strands of funding available to 
the Council. The Council is now able to rely on this to inform future 
decisions.  
 

1.8 A Cross Party Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review 
Group) was set up in November 2017 with defined Terms of Reference 
to look at the Medium Term Financial Strategy and to further look at 
options for securing financial stability for the longer term. The Group 
regularly reports to the Hub Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and has made recommendations on Reserves in 10.2 and 
10.3 



 
1.9 The Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 to 2023/24 was 

approved by Council on 25th September 2018. Below is a copy of the 
relevant Minute (CM33). 

 
It was RESOLVED that: 

 
1. the forecast budget gap for 2019/20 of £0.45 million and the 

position for future years be noted; 
 

2. the current options identified and timescales for closing the 
Budget gap in 2019/20 and future years (to achieve long 
term financial sustainability) be noted; 

 
3. the strategic intention be set to raise Council Tax by the 

maximum allowed in any given year, without triggering a 
Council Tax Referendum, to endeavour to continue to deliver 
services.  (NB. the actual Council Tax for any given year will 
be decided by the Council in the preceding February); 

 
4. an application be submitted for Business Rate Pilot status for 

2019/20, with agreement being made to a 40% District / 34% 
Devon County Council / 1% Fire split for the 75% scheme.  
In the event of the Pilot bid not being successful, then the 
Council will remain part of the Devon Business Rates Pool; 

 
5. Central Government and Devon MPs be actively lobbied to 

support a 2019/20 Devon Pilot bid; 
 

6. Central Government, Devon MPs and other sector bodies 
(such as the District Councils Network and the Rural 
Services Network) be actively lobbied and engaged with for a 
realistic Business Rates baseline to be set for the Council for 
2020 onwards; 

 
7. the Council responds to the technical consultation in support 

of the Government eliminating Negative Revenue Support 
Grant.  Furthermore, the Council continue to lobby for Rural 
Services Delivery Grant allocations that adequately reflect 
the cost of rural services provision; 

 
8. for modelling purposes, £375,000 of New Homes Bonus 

funding for 2019/20 be used to fund the revenue base 
budget, with this reducing to £100,000 by 2020/21 and 
£50,000 by 2021/22; 

 
 
 
 



9. the annual level of contribution to Earmarked Reserves 
(£50,000) and the adequacy of the existing level of 
Unearmarked Reserves (£1.2 million) and Earmarked 
Reserves (£4 million) be delegated to the Cross Party 
Member Working Group (the ‘Financial Stability Review 
Group’) to review and make recommendations by the end of 
October 2018.  (NB. this will assess the adequacy of 
Reserves levels in light of future plans and pressures; 
 

10. the Council takes specialist pension advice on the options for 
the Council’s Pension position (informing the actuarial 
valuation) with the aim of reducing the current deficit 
contributions, increasing affordability, whilst best managing 
the pension deficit.  Also, the Council recognises the need to 
have early dialogue with Devon County Council and the 
actuaries with regard to the Council having an input into the 
actuarial assumptions used for the 2019 Actuarial Valuation.  
(NB. options will be presented to the Audit Committee 
meeting on 22 January 2019 to consider); 
 

11. the Council sets an Upper Limit on External Borrowing (for all 
Council services) as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy of £50 million (as outlined at exempt Appendix G of 
the presented agenda report); 

 
12. the Council continues with the Local Government terms and 

conditions of employment Green Book for at least 2019/20.  
That all options be reviewed for reducing staff costs by 
varying terms from the Green Book from 2020/21, with an 
initial report being presented back by the end of 2018/19;  

 
13. new measures to balance the 2019/20 Budget be brought 

forward in time for the Council Budget meeting in February 
2019.” 

 
1.10 Since the MTFS was approved in September 2018, the following action 

has been taken:- 
 

• A Members’ Budget Workshop was held on 8th October and a further 
£154,200 of budget reductions have been identified which are 
supported from the results of the Members’ Budget Survey (attached in 
Appendix C). The cost pressure for Elections of £50,000 has been 
substituted for an annual contribution to an elections reserve of 
£20,000 and this has benefitted the budget position by a further 
£30,000. This has reduced the budget gap for 2019-20 from £453,000 
(position at September 2018) to £269,000 (position in December 2018 
as per this report). 

 
 
 



 

• An application for Business Rates Pilot status for 2019-20 has been 
made and the Devon MPs have been actively lobbied to support the 
bid. The bid has received the support of both West Devon MPs. 

 

• The Council responded to the recent technical consultation on negative 
Revenue Support Grant, New Homes Bonus and the Business Rates 
baseline. 

 

• The Financial Stability Review Group has made recommendations on 
Earmarked Reserves as set out in 10.2 and 10.3 
 

• The Council is taking specialist pensions advice 
 

• The Council has set an Upper Limit on External Borrowing (for all 
Council services) as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy of £50 
million and this will be reflected within the Capital Strategy and 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2019-20 onwards (to be considered 
by Council in January 2019). 

 

• Through the Financial Stability Review Group, further measures are 
being considered to balance the 2019/20 and 2020/21 onwards budget 
positions. 

 
 
2 THE FOUR YEAR SETTLEMENT FUNDING OFFER  
2.1 During 2016/17 the Government offered Local Authorities the 

opportunity to apply for a four year agreed funding settlement, subject 
to the production of an efficiency plan. The Council applied and was 
accepted for the four year agreement. From 2018/19 onwards, the 
Council has received no Government funding (Revenue Support Grant, 
RSG) and the Council will need to be self-sufficient.  

 
2.2 Although the four year settlement offered no Revenue Support Grant, it 

did guarantee the Council its allocations of Rural Services Delivery 
Grant over the four year period, which equates to £0.37m in 2019/20. 

 
2.3 District Councils such as West Devon have also suffered a large 

reduction in their New Homes Bonus funding (£0.5 million in 17/18) due 
to the number of years payments being reduced from six years to five 
years in 17/18 and four years from 18/19 onwards.  

 
2.4 The New Homes Bonus funding being released is to contribute towards 

adult social care costs, a function carried out by Unitary and County 
Councils. Between 2009/10 and 2019/20 the Council’s Core 
Government funding will have reduced by £3 million annually.  

 
 
 
 



3   ASSUMPTIONS FOR FINANCIAL MODELLING PURPOSES 
3.1  The National Employers made a final pay offer covering 1 April 2018 to 

31 March 2020. The majority of employees (those on salaries starting 
at £19,430 p.a.) have received an uplift of 2% on 1/4/18 and a further 
2% on 1/4/19, with those on lower salaries receiving higher increases. 
The cost of this was £85,000 in 2018/19 and a further £95,000 in 
2019/20. This has been reflected in Appendix A. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy is not an expression of Council Policy on pay 
awards, but a means of ensuring an appropriate provision is made as 
part of the overall financial planning of the Council. 

 
3.2 This report assumes inflation will run at 2% over the five year period. 

The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) was 2.2% in October 2018. 
 
3.3 The predicted interest rate forecast from our treasury management 

advisors, Link Services, is that interest rates will remain at 0.75% up to 
September 2019. By December 2020 the bank base rate is predicted to 
increase to 1.5%.  

 
3.4    An increase in council tax of 2.99% for the next five years has been 

modelled for council tax purposes. This strategic principle was 
approved as part of the MTFS. This would equate to a Band D council 
tax for West Devon of £231.63 in 2019/20 as shown in Appendix B. 

 
3.5 It has been assumed that the number of properties within the Borough 

will increase by 160 per annum from 2019/20 onwards – this is an 
increase of approx. 0.8% - the Council had 20,117.85 Band D 
equivalent properties in 2018/19.  

 
4. THE COMPONENTS MAKING UP A MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 

STRATEGY (MTFS) 
 
4.1 The Diagram below sets out all of the component parts which 

constitute the make-up of a Medium Term Financial Strategy. Appendix 
C of the MTFS report to Council on 25th September 2018 went through 
each of these components in detail and made recommendations where 
appropriate. The recommendations are summarised in 1.9.  

 
Items in Green denote those elements where the Council has a large 
degree of control over the setting of policies and strategies. Items in 
Amber denote those components of the MTFS where the Council has a 
degree of control. Red items signal components where the Council has 
hardly any control over funding allocations which are decided by the 
Government and future cost pressures which can largely be outside of 
the Council’s control or influence. 

 
 
 
 
 



        Net Budget £7.3 million 
      

 
 
  

Council Tax 
4.2 Council on 25th September 2018 (Minute CM33) has set the strategic 

intention to raise council tax by the maximum allowed in any given 
year, without triggering a council tax referendum, to endeavour to 
continue to deliver services. The actual council tax for any given year 
will be decided by Council in the preceding February. 

 
 Business Rates 
4.3 The income from Business Rates which West Devon Borough Council 

retained in 2017-18 was the funding baseline of £1,538,973 plus the 
pooling gain of £82,000. 

 
 Business Rates Pilot for 2019-20 
4.4   Modelling for 19/20 Pilot status shows that West Devon could gain 

approximately £250,000 of the £10 million projected 19/20 Devon Pilot 
gain. This is approximately half of the 18/19 predicted WDBC gain of 
£460,000. This additional funding of £250,000 would be a one-off 
amount for 2019/20 only. Devon Councils have submitted a bid to 
Central Government and the Devon MPs have been actively lobbied. 
The bid has received the support of both West Devon MPs. 

 
 Negative Revenue Support Grant 
4.5 The negative RSG currently included within the Council’s funding 

allocation for 2019/20 amounts to £293,377. If the Government 
eliminates this, as an outcome of the consultation process, the 
Council’s budget position is bettered by £300K for 2019/20 – this 
betterment is already included within the modelling in Appendix B. The 
Council is hopeful the Government will reverse it, as this is the 
Government’s preferred option in the consultation.  

 
 
 



4.6 The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes that negative RSG will 
be reduced to zero in 2019/20 and this reduced funding pressure has 
been built into the latest modelling set out in this report. If the position 
changes, the MTFS will be updated to reflect this. It is assumed that 
negative RSG remains in some form (e.g. as part of the business rates 
baseline reset) from 2020/21 onwards. 

 
4.7 The Council has responded to the technical consultation in support of 

the Government eliminating Negative Revenue Support Grant and 

continues to lobby for Rural Services Delivery Grant allocations which 

adequately reflect the cost of rural service provision. 

New Homes Bonus 
4.8 The Government released a consultation in July which stated their 

intention to increase the 0.4% baseline. They have also stated that 
2019-20 represents the final year of NHB funding and from 2020 
onwards they will explore how to incentivise housing growth most 
effectively and will consult on this issue. The financial modelling has 
included using £375,000 of New Homes Bonus funding for 2019-20 to 
fund the revenue base budget and this has then been reduced to 
£100,000 by 2020-21 and £50,000 by 2021-22 for modelling purposes. 
 
 
Pensions Strategy (Actuarial Valuation) 

4.9 The Council has taken specialist pension advice on the options for the 
Council’s Pension position (informing the actuarial valuation), with the 
aim of reducing the current deficit contributions, increasing affordability, 
whilst best managing the pension deficit. Options are being presented 
to the Council’s Audit Committee on 22nd January to consider. 

 

 Treasury Management and Borrowing Strategy 

4.10 The Council has taken external treasury management advice on the 
Council’s overall borrowing levels and debt levels. The Council set an 
Upper Limit on External Borrowing (for all Council services) as part of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy of £50 million.  On 15th January, 
the Council will consider its Capital Strategy and Treasury 
Management Strategy which will contain the new requirements issued 
by MHCLG in February 2018 of the new guidance. 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Procurement 

4.11 The Council is currently procuring its waste collection, recycling and 

cleansing services through a competitive dialogue process. The latest 

report was to Council on 24th July. Council Minute CM25 refers. The 

procurement process has now continued to the ‘Final Solutions’ stage, 

and a further final report has been presented to the Council meeting of 

4th December 2018. Any financial implications of this are not yet 

included within the modelling in Appendices A and B.  

Exempt Appendix D shows the impact of including the waste 

procurement within the modelling. 

 Partnership Funding/Grants 

4.12 Following reports to both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (26th 

June) and the Hub Committee, it has been approved by Council 

(Minute CM24 – Council 24th July 2018) to reduce funding to 

Partnerships by £14,000 for 2019/20. 

 Commercial Property and Review of Assets 

4.13 The Invest to Earn Group are considering commercial property 

business cases within the Commercial Property acquisition strategy. A 

report on the funding for the initial years of the development projects 

will be presented to Council on Tuesday 15th January 2019. 

4.14 The Council’s Asset Base is £22.3 million at 31 March 2018. The 

Council will continually review and challenge its asset base in order to 

deliver the optimum value for money from the Council’s Assets. See 

further narrative at 8.2 of the report. 

 
 Results of the Members’ Budget Survey 2018 
 
4.15 A Members’ Budget Workshop was held on 8th October and a further 

£154,200 of budget reductions have been identified which are 
supported from the results of the Members’ Budget Survey (attached in 
Appendix C). The budget reductions have been highlighted in grey in 
Appendix A. 
 

4.16 The cost pressure for Elections of £50,000 has been substituted for an 
annual contribution to an elections reserve of £20,000 and this has 
benefitted the budget position by a further £30,000. This has reduced 
the budget gap for 2019-20 from £453,000 (position at September 
2018) to £269,000 (position in December 2018 as per this report). 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
5 BUDGET PRESSURES, SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION   
5.1 Financial modelling has been undertaken for the next five years to 

predict the Council’s financial situation for the short and medium term. 
 
5.2 Appendix A to the Medium Term Financial Position sets out the 

Budget Pressures forecast for the next five years and the additional 
savings and income forecast. These figures in Appendix A show the 
changes to the existing base budget.  
(As set out 
in Appendix 
A) 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Cost 
Pressures 

£420,000 £465,000 £260,000 £260,000 £335,000 

Contributions 
to 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

£70,000 £70,000 £70,000 £70,000 £70,000 

Savings and 
additional 
income  

(385,700) (270,200) (171,200) (391,200) (1,200) 

 
 
6. OVERALL POSITION – BUDGET GAP 
6.1 Appendix B illustrates the overall financial forecast for the forthcoming 

five years. The Council’s Net Budget is £7.3 million in 2018/19. A 
Summary forecast is shown below of the potential budget situation if all 
of the budget pressures and the savings and income generation in 
Appendix A were approved. It also shows the situation if the Council 
Tax is increased by 2.99% (shown in Appendix B). 

 
6.2 The following table illustrates the predicted budget gap from 2019/20 

onwards for the Council as shown in Appendix B: 
 

Cumulative  
Budget Gap 

2019/20 
£ 

2020/21 
£ 

2021/22 
£ 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

Total  
Aggregated  
Budget Gap 
£ 

Modelling  
Appendix B 
(assumes  
–ve RSG is 
Zero in 
2019/20) 

269,132 837,447 851,216 488,344 573,313 3,019,452 

 
6.3 In the Modelling in Appendix B, the total budget gap is £269,132 in 

2019/20 and this is predicted to rise to £837,447 in 2020/21 (the 
£837,447 assumes the budget gap in 19/20 of £269,132 has not been 
closed). The aggregated Budget Gap is £3.02 million. 

 
6.4 Further modelling which includes the impact of the waste procurement 

in (4.11) is shown in Exempt Appendix D. 



 
 
7 FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND TIMESCALES 
7.1 The Council is progressing various options for closing the budget gap 

in 2019/20 and future years, to achieve long term financial 
sustainability.  The table below sets out a timescale for those options 
and the various strands that the Council is exploring. 

 
Option Possible 

Budget 
Impact 

Timescale 

 
Public Conveniences 
A budget saving of £50,000 in 
2019/20 has been included within the 
total budget savings modelled.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
£50,000 

 
A further report 
will be 
presented to the 
Hub Committee. 

Pensions Strategy  
(Actuarial Valuation) 
The Council is in the process of  
receiving specialist pensions advice 
on its Pensions position (informing the 
actuarial valuation). Options will be 
reported to the January Audit 
Committee. 
 

 
To be 
quantified 
(could be 
up to 
£100,000 
or more) 

 
Report to the 
Audit Committee 
22nd January 
2019 

Waste Procurement  
The Council is currently in a waste 
procurement process through 
competitive dialogue. The 
procurement process is now in ‘Final 
Solutions’ stage, with a decision being 
made by Council on 4th December 
2018. Any financial implications of this 
are not yet included in the Modelling 
in Appendix B. 
Exempt Appendix D shows the impact 
on the modelling position of including 
this. 

 
Set out in 
Exempt 
Appendix 
D 

 
Council meeting  
4th December 
2018 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
The grant to Town and Parish 
Councils has been reduced by 8.6% 
over the four year period of the 
finance settlement. Members have an 
option over whether to withdraw 
funding in 2020/21. 

 
£59,000 
for 
2020/21 
onwards 

 
February 
Council 2019. 



Option Possible 
Budget 
Impact 

Timescale 

Asset Review 
The Invest to Earn Group are 
considering commercial property 
business cases within the Commercial 
Property acquisition strategy. A report 
on the funding for the initial years of 
the development projects will be 
presented to Council on Tuesday 15th 
January 2019. 
 

 
To be 
quantified 

 
15th January 
2019 

Funding Options 
 

  

Negative Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) 
The Council is hopeful the 
Government will reverse negative 
RSG in 19-20, as this is the 
Government’s preferred option in the 
consultation. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy assumes that 
negative RSG will be reduced to zero 
in 19-20. 
 

The 
Medium 
Term 
Financial 
Strategy 
assumes 
that 
negative 
RSG will 
be 
reduced to 
zero in 19-
20 

Anticipated to be 
known on 6th 
December 2018 
when the Draft 
Local 
Government 
Finance 
Settlement is 
published. 

Business Rates Pilot status for 
2019/20 
If the Devon Business Rates Pilot 
were to be successful for 2019/20, 
this could give further one-off extra 
business rates income in 19/20. 
Based on a 75% growth retention 
scheme, this could yield up to 
£250,000. 
 

 
 
 
£250,000 
in 2019/20 
(one-off 
funding) 

6th December 
2018 when the 
Draft Local 
Government 
Finance 
Settlement is 
published. 

New Homes Bonus allocations for 
2019/20 
The NHB allocation for 2019/20 is 
anticipated to be around £434,000, of 
which £375,000 is currently projected 
to be used to fund the Revenue Base 
Budget. The Council could chose to 
use a higher amount to fund the 
Revenue Base Budget but this would 
leave little funding available for the 
Capital Programme. 

 
 
 
 
Potentially 
up to 
£59,000 

NHB allocations 
will be 
announced 
around 6th 
December 2018. 
Decisions 
around its use 
will be made as 
part of the 
Budget Process. 



Option Possible 
Budget 
Impact 

Timescale 

Use of Reserves as a temporary 
measure 
The Council will have £316,484* in a 
Future Financial Stability Earmarked 
Reserve (this was from the 18/19 
projected pilot gain). The Council 
could temporarily utilise Reserves to 
balance an element of the 2019/20 
budget, whilst longer term solutions 
are being implemented. This would be 
a very short term solution though. 
*Note there is a report to Council in 
December for a commitment for 
£50,000 for the South West Mutual 
Bank. 

To be 
assessed 

To be decided 
as part of the 
Budget Process  

 
7.2 The diagram below shows the Government timetable of key dates. 
 The key dates will be in May 2019 when more details will be known 

about the Funding Reform and Spending Review 2019. In November 
2019, the baseline funding for business rates and the impact of 
transitional arrangements will be known. 

  
 
 
 
8 CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND PRUDENTIAL BORROWING 
8.1 The Capital Programme is set by the Council and may be funded by 

sale proceeds from the disposal of assets (capital receipts), external 
grants and contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. A 
proposed Capital Programme for 2019/20 onwards will be set out in the 
Capital Strategy report to Council on 15th January 2019.   



8.2 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy – The Council has 
agreed a commercial property acquisition strategy of up to £37.45 
million. To date, three investment properties have been purchased with 
a value of just over £20 million in aggregate. Purchases made within 
the strategy will be capital expenditure. The Invest to Earn Group are 
considering commercial property business cases within the 
Commercial Property acquisition strategy. A report on the funding for 
the initial years of the development projects will be presented to 
Council on Tuesday 15th January 2019. 

 
8.3 Prudential Borrowing - The Council will consider the use of prudential 

borrowing to support capital investment to deliver services and will 
ensure that the full costs of borrowing are taken into account when 
investment decisions are made.  

 
9. Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis 
9.1 The Council carries out sensitivity analysis and risk analysis of its 

Budget Proposals and this was shown in Appendix F to the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy. 

 
10.  Earmarked and Unearmarked Reserves 
10.1 The current levels of Reserves are £1.2 million Unearmarked Reserves 

and Earmarked Reserves of £4 million. The Council’s Net Budget is 
£7.3 million for 2018/19. Therefore Unearmarked Reserves equate to 
16% of the Council’s Net Budget. A full list of Reserves is shown in 
Appendix E. 

 
10.2 The Financial Stability Review Group have reviewed the Earmarked 

Reserves and have identified several historic lower value Earmarked 
reserves which have no current commitments and no recent 
expenditure. These are listed below and they total £84,937. It is 
recommended that this amount is allocated instead to the ICT Reserve 
which is currently depleted and has no resource remaining. 

 

• W0901 – Grounds Maintenance Reserve - £49,068 

• W0909 – Millwood Homes Reserve - £15,000 

• W0923 – CLG Assets Community Value - £7,855 

• W0898 – Landscaping - £5,220 

• W0907 - New Burdens Reserve - £3,294 

• W0908 – World Heritage  - £4,500 

• TOTAL  £84,937 
 
10.3 The annual contributions to Reserves of £25,000 to the Planning 

Earmarked Reserve and £25,000 to the ICT Reserve were supported 
by the Financial Stability Review Group (FSRG). The FSRG were also 
of the opinion that the cost pressure for Elections of £50,000 could be 
removed, in light of the amount held in Reserves of £24,000 for 
Elections. It was agreed to remove the £50,000 cost pressure in 
2019/20 and replace this with an annual contribution to the Elections 
Earmarked Reserve of £20,000.  



 
10.4 Further recommendations on the use of Earmarked Reserves are 

contained within Exempt Appendix B of the Waste Procurement report 
to Council on 4th December 2018.  

 
10.5 Budget Monitoring – The latest Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring report 

shows the actual net revenue expenditure is forecast to be under 
budget by £57,000 when compared against the total budget set for 
2018/19. This is mainly due to additional planning income following the 
receipt of several large planning applications in the second quarter of 
2018/19. 

 
11 NEXT STEPS 
11.1 This MTFS is the starting point for developing a meaningful five year 

strategy that sets out the strategic intention for all of the different 
strands of funding available to the Council. This was approved at 
Council in September 2018.  The Council is now able to rely on this to 
inform future decisions.  

 
11.2 Officers will continue to work with the Cross Party Member Working 

Group (Financial Stability Review Group) and the results of this will be 
incorporated into future Budget reports. Section 7 sets out the potential 
timescales against the areas identified.  

 
11.3 In particular, the Council keenly awaits the announcement of the Draft 

Local Government Finance Settlement on 6th December. 
 
 
12.  IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y            The Hub Committee is responsible for 
recommending to Council the budgetary 
framework. It is the role of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Budget 
proposals being proposed by the Council. In 
accordance with the Financial Procedure 
Rules, Council must decide the general level of 
Reserves and the use of Earmarked Reserves. 

 
           The preparation of the Budget report is 

evidence that the Council has considered and 
taken into account all relevant information and 
proper advice when determining its financial 
arrangements in accordance with statutory 
requirements, and in particular, that it will set a 
lawful budget. 



 
Appendices C and D to this report are 
considered exempt under paragraph 3 of 
schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 in that they concern the financial or 
business affairs of the Council. The public 
interest has been assessed and it is 
considered that, the public interest is better 
served by non-disclosure to the press and 
public. 

 
 
 

Financial 
 

Y In the Modelling in Appendix B, the total budget gap is 
£269,132 in 2019/20 and this is predicted to rise to 
£837,447 in 2020/21 (the £837,447 assumes the 
budget gap in 19/20 of £269,132 has not been 
closed). The aggregated Budget Gap is £3.02 million. 
 
Further modelling which includes the impact of the 
waste procurement in 4.11 is shown in Exempt 
Appendix D. 
 

Risk 
 
 

Y Each of the budget options taken forward by 
Members will consider the risks of the option. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 Equality Impact Assessments are completed for the 
budget proposals. 

Safeguarding  None directly arising from this report. 
Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other implications  None directly arising from this report. 
    
 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Budget pressures and savings 
Appendix B – Modelling of the MTFS Position 
Exempt Appendix C – Members’ Budget Survey Results  
Exempt Appendix D – Budget Gap position (including the waste procurement) 
Appendix E -  Schedule of Reserves (Unearmarked and Earmarked) 
 
 
 
 



 
Approval and clearance of report 
 
Process checklist Completed 
Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 
SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 
Data protection issues considered Yes 
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS APPENDIX  A

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL

BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

BUDGET PRESSURES £ £ £ £ £ £

Waste collection, recycling and cleansing contract (estimate) 190,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Inflation on the street cleaning and public conveniences 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

ICT future service provision 0 0 150,000 0 0 0

Triennial Pension revaluation 25,000 0 75,000 0 0 75,000

Inflation on goods and services 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Increase in salaries - increments and pay and grading 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Increase in salaries - pay increase at 2% modelled (1% for 20/21 onwards) 85,000 95,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Maintenance of trees 40,000 0 (20,000) 0 0 0

Reduction in Recycling credits 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

ICT support contracts - increase the budget to better align to actual expenditure 65,000 95,000 0 0 0 0

Reduce income target for Kilworthy Park to align to actual income received 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Housing Benefit administration subsidy  16,500 20,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

National Insurance and National Living Wage 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Provision for salary costs for steady state review 20,000 0 0 0 0 0

IT - replace ageing network switches 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Waste - lease renewal 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue implication of the waste capital bid in 2017/18 capital programme 13,000 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL IDENTIFIED BUDGET PRESSURES 674,500 420,000 465,000 260,000 260,000 335,000

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £ £

Contribution to Earmarked Reserves                                                                                                

(This line shows the annual contributions into the Reserve)

Contribution to IT Development Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Contribution to Planning Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Contribution to Elections Reserve (20K per annum) 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Transformation Project (T18) - Approved at 9th December 2014 Council                                    

(One-off investment costs)                                                                                                    

Contribution to Strategic Change Reserve to meet redundancy and pension costs - 

Contributions reduce to zero in 2019/20 
10,000 0 0 0 0 0

Total Contribution to Earmarked Reserves 60,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000



BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS APPENDIX  A

SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION IDENTIFIED BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £ £ £

Income from investments in commercial property
100,000 100,000 20,000 40,000 120,000 0

Re-procurement of contracts (e.g. savings from Leisure contract)
0 0 100,000 130,000 270,000 0

Opt-in charged garden waste service 
122,500 0 0 0 0 0

Car parking income from a review of charges 
180,000 0 0 0 0 0

Additional car parking income  (to reflect current increase in use in 2017/18) 40,000 0 0 0 0 0

Public Conveniences
0 50,000 0 0 0 0

Review of Accommodation/Office requirements (effective 1 April 2018) 82,000 0 0 0 0 0

Kilworthy Park - reduction in operating costs 0 0 50,000 0 0 0

Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments (increase income target to reflect actual 

income being achieved) 85,000 50,000 0 0 0 0

Cessation of accepting cash and cheques (effective 1 April 2018) 35,000 0 0 0 0 0

Planning Fees (increase income target to reflect actual income being achieved) 15,000 50,000 0 0 0 0

Senior Leadership Team - Interim arrangement 0 34,000 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Partnership funding  (Minute CM24 - Council 24th July 2018) 15,330 14,000 0 0 0 0

Extra treasury management income 20,000 0 20,000 0 0 0

Trade waste income 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate consultancy income 0 20,000 0 0 0 0

Introduction of Direct Lets Scheme 10,000 12,000 0 0 0 0

Energy Certification for Eco Schemes 0 10,000 0 0 0 0

Paperless Committee agendas 3,500 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Reduction Scheme - 8.6% reduction in Town and Parish Grant 6,100 5,500 59,000 0 0 0

Charging for duty planning service 6,500 3,500 0 0 0 0

Advertising on websites and e-bulletins 0 3,500 0 0 0 0

Legal advice, support and training to Town and Parish Councils 0 5,000 4,000 0 0 0

Charging for food advice/ environmental health fees and charges 5,000 0 0 0 0 0

Savings from the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 35,000 0 0 0 0 0

Review corporate training budgets 0 15,000 0 0 0 0

Reduction in ICT contracts 0 12,000 16,000 0 0 0

Implement e-billing in council tax 0 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200

Saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 8,000 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION 783,930 385,700 270,200 171,200 391,200 1,200

Note - Items shaded in Grey denote the savings and additional income considered at the 

Members' Budget Workshop which have received support from the Members' Budget 

Survey (Exempt Appendix C)



FINANCIAL STRATEGY APPENDIX B

Line

Modelling Scenario A - Modelling assumptions: Assumes Council Tax is 

increased by 2.99% annually; that negative Revenue Support Grant is 

eliminated in 19/20 and no pilot gain for 19/20 has been assumed. BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr 4 Yr5

No. Modelling for the financial years 2018/19 onwards 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £ £ 

1 Base budget brought forward 7,423,225 7,313,795 7,078,963 6,705,449 6,780,480 7,012,151
2 Budget pressures (as per Appendix A) 674,500 420,000 465,000 260,000 260,000 335,000
3 Savings already identified (as per Appendix A) (783,930) (385,700) (270,200) (171,200) (391,200) (1,200)
4 Projected Net Expenditure:  7,313,795 7,348,095 7,273,763 6,794,249 6,649,280 7,345,951

Funded By:-

5
Council Tax income  - Modelling a 2.99% increase in council tax each year        

(Taxbase 18/19 = 20,117.85 Band D Equivalent properties)
4,524,706 4,696,958 4,875,449 5,060,480 5,252,151 5,450,983

6 Collection Fund Surplus 96,000 84,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

7 Revenue Support Grant (Nil from 2018/19 onwards) 0 0 0 0 0 0

8
Localised Business Rates (baseline funding level - includes Rural Services 

Delivery Grant of £464,365 in 2018/19 due to Pilot status)
2,049,573 1,620,367 1,650,000 1,690,000 1,730,000 1,780,000

9 Tariff/Top Up Adjustment amount (negative RSG - assume Nil in 19/20) 0 0 (300,000) (400,000) (400,000) (400,000)

10 Business Rates - Pilot Gain 460,000 0 0 0 0 0

11 Funding from Rural Services Delivery Grant (included in line 8 for 2018/19) 0 372,638 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000

12 Funding from New Homes Bonus 560,000 375,000 100,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

13 Less: Contribution to Earmarked Reserves -60,000 -70,000 -70,000 -70,000 -70,000 -70,000

14 Less: Contribution to Future Financial Stability Earmarked Reserve -316,484

15 Total Projected Funding Sources 7,313,795 7,078,963 6,705,449 6,780,480 7,012,151 7,260,983

16

Budget gap/(surplus) per year                                                                               

(Projected Expenditure line 4 - Projected Funding line 15) 0 269,132 568,314 13,769 -362,871 84,969

0

Actual Predicted Cumulative Budget Gap                                                0 269,132 837,447 851,216 488,344 573,313

Aggregated Budget Gap (if no action is taken in each individual year to 

close the budget gap annually) 0 269,132 1,106,579 1,957,795 2,446,139 3,019,452

Modelling Assumptions: (Assumes an increase in Band D Equivalent 

properties of 160 per annum)

Council Tax (Band D) (an increase of 2.99% per annum has been modelled) 224.91 231.63 238.55 245.68 253.02 260.59

Council TaxBase 20,117.85 20,277.85 20,437.85 20,597.85 20,757.85 20,917.85













APPENDIX  E

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES APPENDIX E

Opening Additions Predicted Projected

balance to the spend balance

1.4.2018 Reserve 31.3.2019 Comments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EARMARKED RESERVES

 

Specific Reserves - General Fund

Business Rates Retention Scheme (509) 0 350 (159)

This relates to a timing issue on the accounting adjustments 

required for the localisation of business rates. This reserve 

also deals with any volatility in Business Rate income e.g. due 

to appeals. 

Car Parking Maintenance (386) 0 205 (181)

Commitment relates to statutory tree work and Brook Street 

Car Park as well as £30,000 for Council Owned Asset 

Investment & Development (minute ref HC 4).

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency (382) 0 148 (234)

This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 

Earmarked Reserve. Commitment of £76,000 relates to the 

balance of the JSG funding and £65,000 capital funding

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) (724) 0 288 (436)
Commitment relates to purchase of land & survey Costs, 

Okehampton £279,000, Lottery set up costs £6,500 

T18 Strategic Change (287) (10) 129 (168)

To meet redundancy and pension strain costs (one off 

investment costs funded by savings) from the T18 

Transformation Programme.

Cannons Meadow, Tavistock (13) 0 3 (10) Written down to revenue annually

Elections (24) 0 0 (24)

Neighbourhood Planning Grants (47) 0 4 (43) Examiner fees in 2018/19

Economic Grant Initiatives (23) 0 0 (23)

Flood Works (15) 0 0 (15)

Homelessness Prevention (95) 0 0 (95)

New Homes Bonus (225) (643) 850 (18)
Commitment includes £560,000 to fund the 2018/19 Revenue 

budget and £252,000 for the Capital Programme 

Planning Policy and Major Developments (44) (155) 79 (120)

Joint Local Plan Funding transferred to a separate reserve. 

The additions to the reserve include a proposed contribution of 

£100,000 which forms part of the recommendations to this 

revenue monitoring report.

Invest to Save (27) 0 23 (4)
The commitment relates to the Council Owned Asset 

Investment and Development (minute ref HC 4)

ICT Development (30) (25) 55 0
Most of this reserve has been committed to the ICON 

replacement

Waste & Cleansing Options Review (80) 0 0 (80) To cover the cost of procurement and waste initiatives

Community Housing Fund (243) 0 0 (243)

Leisure Services (231) 0 174 (57) Leisure Centre investment

Maintenance Fund (Estates) (223) 0 0 (223)

Revenue Grants (220) 0 8 (212)

Support Services Trading Opportunities (8) 0 0 (8)

Grounds Maintenance (49) 0 0 (49)

Outdoor Sports & Recreation Grants (18) 0 0 (18)

Environmental Health (20) 0 0 (20)

Section 106 Monitoring (19) 0 0 (19)

Joint Local Plan 0 (86) 86 0 New reserve for Joint Local Plan Funding

Other Reserves below £15,000 (73) 0 0 (73)

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES (4,015) (919) 2,402 (2,532)

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES (1,197) (57) 0 (1,254) Projected underspend of £57,000 for 2018/19

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES                                

(EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED 

RESERVES)

(5,212) (976) 2,402 (3,786)





Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 4 December 2018 

Title: Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 

Portfolio Area: Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Leech 

 

Wards Affected: all 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

Urgent Decision: N  Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: 

 

After Call In 

12 December 
2018 

  

Author: Lorraine 
Mullineaux  

Role: Housing Benefit Specialist  

Contact: Lorraine.Mullineaux@swdevon.gov.uk  

 

 

 
 

Recommendations: 

That Hub Committee 

1. Notes the results to date of the Public Consultation for the Council 

Tax Reduction Scheme in Section 4 of the report. 
 

2. Endorse the proposed approach (to adopt a 4 band scheme 
ranging from 85% to 25%) for the allocation and management of 

the new Council Tax Reduction strategy. 

         

1. Executive summary  
1.1 It is an annual requirement for Councils to revisit their existing 

council tax support scheme and make a decision as to whether to 
replace or revise it. 

           
 
 



           

1.2     In order to make changes to our scheme for 2019/20 we are 

required by law to: 

• Consult with the major precepting authorities 

• Consult with other persons as it considers are likely to have 
an interest in the operation of the scheme. 
 

 1.3    The Authority is currently undertaking a comprehensive 
consultation which started on the 25th October 2018 and is due to 

end on the 6th December 2018 and has invited all residents the 
opportunity to contribute to the discussion. To date we have had 12 
responses which is relatively a small response but this could be 

partly due to the technical nature of the changes proposed. 
 

         Whilst the numbers are relatively low, every opportunity is being 
given to the residents to have their say including: 

 

• On line 
• E-mail 

• Social media 
• A short film has also been completed on social media to 

encourage participation. 
 
1.4   After analysing the results of the survey so far, officers are  

        recommending that the Authority makes the changes to a Banded      
        Scheme from 19/20.  

 
1.5   The final Council Tax Reduction Scheme must be adopted by Full 
        Council, and cannot be delegated to an Officer or Committee. 

 
 

2   Background  
 
2.1 Council Tax Support (CTS also known as Council Tax Reduction - 

CTR) was introduced in April 2013 and replaced the national Council 
Tax Benefit Scheme, with a 10% funding reduction. The CTR 

scheme for working-age customers is a local scheme, however the 
scheme that exists for pension age recipients is a national scheme 
prescribed by regulations and cannot be varied locally. Therefore 

any savings to the scheme must come from working age 
customers.  

 
2.2 Local Schemes must take account of and: 

 

• Support work incentives and in particular avoid disincentives 
for those moving into work 

• Our duties to protect vulnerable people (these duties already 
exist under the Equality Act 2010, The Care Act 2014, Child 
Poverty Act 2010, The Housing Act 1996) 

• The Armed Forces Covenant.  



 

3 The Current Scheme 

 
3.1 The working age scheme adopted by this council in 2014 retained 

the main elements of the former council tax benefit scheme but 
with the following; 

• Liability limit (maximum support) of 80%. This means 

that everyone pays at least the 20% of their Council Tax. 
• Limiting CTR to a Band D Council Tax charge. This means 

that customers living in a home with a Council Tax band 
greater than D must pay the additional charge. 

• No second adult reduction  

• A vulnerability/hardship fund to provide additional 
financial help. 

 
3.2 Retaining the core elements of the Council Tax Benefit scheme, 

means that we have preserved the means test in its current form, 

together with the protections and work incentives that have been 
refined over many years. This means that our scheme allows for 

the annual uprating’s such as; living allowances, permitted earnings 
and non-dependant deductions in-line with the relevant regulations. 

 
3.3 The scheme adopted by this Council also took account of the 

outcomes following previous public consultation.  

 
3.4 Since the start of CTR there have been a number of legal challenges 

to Billing Authorities schemes. Most of these challenges have been 
made against the consultation process and whether due regard was 
given to the equality impact assessment when making changes to 

the scheme. A Supreme Court ruling in 2014 – R (Moseley) v 
London Borough of Haringey has meant that consultation on 

changes to Council Tax Reduction schemes must also include an 
option on how the current scheme could be retained on the same 
level of funding. 

 
3.5 Since 2013/14 funding for Council Tax Reduction has been included 

within the overall local government funding grant.  The Authority 
therefore decides how much funding is available to support the 
Council Tax Reduction scheme. 

 
3.6 The aim of the local scheme was for it to be ‘cost neutral’. By this 

we mean that the level of Government grant would equal 
forecasted Council Tax Reduction expenditure for 2019/20 
 

3.7 The following table sets out the annual expenditure and caseload: 
 

 Total caseload Working age 

caseload 

Pension 

age 

caseload 

Working age 

expenditure  

£ 

Pension age 

expenditure 

 

£ 

Total West 

Devon BC 

expenditure 

 

£ 



April 14 3,805 1,817 1,988 1,371,905 1,997,878 3,369,783 

April 15 3,732 1,801 1,931 1,344,328 1,932,119 3,276,447 

April 16 3,482 1,683 1,799 1,283,718 1,830,880 3,114,598 

April 17 3,438 1,690 1,748 1,375,750 1,871,267 3,247,017 

April 18 3,421 1,727 1,694 1,451,567 1,905,121 3,356,688 

 
 

3.8 The slight increase in expenditure is mainly due to the level of 
increase in council tax for 2018/19.  
 

3.9 Over the four years from 2016/17 to 2019/20, the Council’s 
Government funding (Settlement Funding Assessment – SFA) 

received from Central Government will be reduced by 37% over the 
four years.      
 

3.10 Our current scheme has served its purpose, but it is a very complex 
and confusing and with Universal Credit now rolled out fully in West 

Devon it will quickly become not fit for purpose due to the high 
volumes of changes that Universal Credit generates. A banded 
scheme will not react to the multiple changes therefore maintaining 

or improving on the collection rate, there is evidence to show that 
Authorities that have moved to full service Universal Credit and 

stayed within a means tested scheme have seen their collection 
rates reduce by 0.5% to 1%. A banded scheme is simple to 
understand, by just looking at the grid anyone should be able to 

work out which band they fall into and what % reduction they will 
be entitled to, reducing failure demand. The scheme will also be 

much easier and quicker to administer, reducing the amount of 
queries and phone calls.             

 
4 Consultation results 
4.1 12 residents responded to the survey, which is a significant 

improvement on the previous consultation. However it should be 
noted that 3 of those respondents did not answer all the questions, 

so the % will not always add up to 100%. Whilst the results suggest 
that the respondents wish to retain the existing scheme, a 
significant number of the proposed changes received positive 

responses. 
 

4.2 An analysis of the responses received so far shows that;  
 

• 50% (6 respondents) felt that the Council should keep the 

current scheme.  
• 25% (3 respondents) disagreed 

 

• 44% (4 respondents) agreed with a banded scheme 
• 56% (5 respondents) disagreed 

 



• 56% (5 respondents) agreed with limiting the number of 
dependent children to two 

• 33% (3 respondents) disagreed 

 

• 44.5% (4 respondents) agreed with the removal of Non 
Dependants 

• 44.5%  (4 respondents) disagreed 

 

• 78% (7 respondents) agreed to us changing the claiming 

process for all claimants in receipt of Universal Credit. 
• 78% (7 respondents) agreed with disregarding carer’s 

allowance. 

• 56%  (5 respondents) agreed to removing the current 
earnings disregard and replacing with £5, £10 and £20 

• 67% (6 respondents) agreed with disregarding the support 
element of Universal credit 

• 78% (7 respondents) agreed with disregarding the housing 

element of Universal Credit 
• 67% (6 respondents) agreed with using Minimum Income 

Floor for self-employed. 
• 67% (6 respondents) agreed with setting the minimum level 

of council tax reduction at £1 per week 

 

• 56% (5 respondents) agreed to reduce the capital limit from 

the existing £16,000 to £6,000 
• 33% (3 respondents) disagreed 

 

A question that asked whether the council should consider any 
options rather than the proposed changes to the Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme was answered as follows; 

• Increase the level of Council Tax to cover the additional 

administration costs? 

44.44% (4 respondents) agreed 

44.44% (4 respondents) disagreed  

• Find the additional administration costs by cutting other 
Council Services? 

100% disagreed 

• Use the Council’s reserves? 

44.44% (4 respondents) agreed  

55.6% (5 respondents) disagreed 
 

5. Proposed Way Forward  
 



5.1 Introduce a banded scheme which will assess the maximum 
level of Council Tax Reduction based on the net income of the 

claimant and partner. 
5.2 To keep the scheme simple where a customer receives a 

passported benefit, such as; 
• Income Support 
• Jobseekers Allowance (IB) 

• Employment Support Allowance (IR)  

They will automatically receive maximum support by being placed 

in the top band of the scheme.  

5.3 Therefore the income bands that will be used in the schemes are 
as follows; 

 
 

Council Tax 
Reduction 

Level 

 
Pass 

ported 

 

 

 

Single 
Income 
Band 

Weekly £ 

   Couples' 
Income 
Band 

Weekly £ 

 

Family 
with one 

child 
Weekly £ 

 
Family with 
two or more 
children 

Weekly £ 
 

Band 1 – 
85%  

Relevant 

Benefit 

0.00 to 

110.00  

 

0.00 to 

160.00  

0.00 to 

210.00  

0.00 to 

260.00  

Band 2- 65% N/A 110.01 to 

150.00  

160.00 to 

200.00 

 

210.01 

to250.00 

 

260.01 to 

300.00 

 

Band 3 - 45% N/A 150.01 -

230.00  

200.01 to 

270.00  

250.01 to 

330.00  

300.01 to 

370.00  

 

Band 4 - 25% N/A 230.01 to 

300.00  

270.01 to 

350.00  

330.01 to 

400.00  

370.01 to 

450.00 

 

 

5.4  Main features:- 
5.4.1 In this scheme as part of our ongoing commitment to support 

disabled people we will continue to disregard Disability Living 
Allowance, Personal Independence Payments and War 

Disablement Benefits for the income used in the assessment 
of Council Tax Reduction and we will continue to disregard 
Child Benefit and Child Maintenance Payments. 

5.4.2 Working-age households will receive a % discount, depending 
on their level of income, the income bands are set out as 

above. The higher end of the band limit is increased depending 
on the size of the household. The rates have been based on 
the increases to personal allowances premiums in the current 

means tested scheme.  
5.4.3 The following is a summary of the main elements of our 

proposed working age Council Tax Reduction Scheme:- 
5.4.3.1 Working-age people will receive a % discount of either 85%, 

65%, 45% or 25%, depending on the level of income and the 
income band they fall into. 



5.4.3.2 Anyone with savings of £6,000 or more will not qualify unless 
they are in receipt of a passported benefit. 

5.4.3.3 Those in receipt of Income Support, Jobseekers Allowance 
(income-based) Employment Support Allowance (income-

related) will automatically be placed into Band 1 (i.e. 85% 
reduction) 

5.4.3.4 Net earnings will be taken into account when calculating 

Council Tax Reduction. 
5.4.3.5 Application for Council Tax Reduction will be made online or 

through notification of an award to Income Support, 
Jobseekers Allowance (income-based), Employment and 
Support Allowance (income-related).  

5.4.3.6 Income from Disability Living Allowance, Personal 
Independence Payments, Armed Forces Independence 

Payments, Child Benefit, Child Maintenance and War 
Disablement Benefits will continue to be disregarded when 
calculating Council Tax Reduction. 

5.4.3.7 To support incentives to work, we will have earnings disregard 
of £5.00 for single people, £10.00 for couples and £20.00 for 

lone parents, this is the amount of earnings not taken into 
account. 

5.4.3.8 To support incentives to work for those that work over 16 
hours we will retain the weekly childcare disregard which will 
be applied to earnings of up to £175.00 for one child and £300 

for two or more. (A disregard is an amount of earnings not 
taken into account in the calculation of net earnings).     

5.4.3.9 Universal Credit – Where the Universal Credit payment is 
worked out based on wages, we will still take the wages into 
account after taking the relevant earnings disregard. We will 

then add them to the Universal Credit payment to work out 
what band to use to calculate the Council Tax Reduction.  

5.4.3.10 Deductions taken from Universal Credit by the Department for 
Works and Pensions (DWP) will not be removed. 

5.4.3.11 The housing cost element of Universal Credit will be ignored. 

5.4.3.12 Introduce a Minimum Income Floor (MIF) for self-employed 
after a 12 month start-up period. Linked to National Living 

wage (£7.83) or National Minimum wage (£7.38 or £5.90 
depending on age).           

5.4.3.13 Applications from joint tenants will be assessed on their share 

of the liability. 
5.4.3.14 No non-dependant deductions to be applied for any non-

dependant. (This is where you have someone else living in 
your home who is not dependant on you). 

5.4.3.15 Backdating is limited to six months and assessed on whether 

there is good cause to do this.   
5.4.3.16 Payment of Council Tax Reduction would only be made if it is 

over £1 per week.      
                      

5.5 Pension age people are not affected by this change and they will 

continue to have council tax reduction assessed in the same way 
through the Governments Council Tax Reduction default scheme. 

 



5.6 Through regulations, government set the allowances (applicable 
amounts), premiums and non-dependant deductions to be used 

when calculating whether a person of pension age is entitled to 
Council Tax Reduction. These amounts are uprated by 

government on an annual basis (not yet available for 2019/20) 
to reflect increase in cost of living. 

   

6. Supporting Information  

 

6.1 For 2017/18 the Council, for working age people in receipt of 
council tax reduction, had a net liability debt of £687,808 of 
which we managed to collect just 77.24%, there are also just 

over £18,000 worth of costs still uncollected, these are 
summons costs that have been applied to accounts in order for 

the authority to apply for a liability order to be able to take 
further action in recovery of unpaid council tax, this highlights 
the financial burden on some of our most vulnerable residents.     

6.2 We assess and pay council tax reduction to 3,343 households, of 
these 1,643 are people of pension age and 1,700 are people of 

working age.   
6.3 Council tax reduction caseloads have reduced in West Devon 

since 2013/14 and the cost for our 2017/18 scheme in April was 
£3,356,688, the modelling shows that in October the current 
cost of the scheme was £3,304,500  and the banded scheme (as 

shown above) would cost £3,315,883. 
6.4 These costs are based on the caseload as is now but they are  

by no means certain as those eligible for the benefit will vary 
based on the wider economic conditions.        

6.5 Our approach to amending the council tax reduction scheme 

continues to support the Council’s local policy priorities, in 
particular:-   

• Reducing inequalities by protecting the most vulnerable 
people in our authority; as we continue to disregard child 
benefit, Disability Living Allowance and war pensions. 

• Supporting work incentives by increasing the weekly 
amount a person or couple can earn before their income 

is used in the assessment of council tax reduction. 
6.6 The scheme will see an increase in the amount of Council Tax 

Reduction received by 1383 residents and these are mainly our 

most vulnerable residents.     
6.7 Whilst most residents will be better off under the new scheme 

there will be 317 residents that are adversely impacted, these 
are mainly due to the changes with Self-employed income and 
the introduction of the Minimum Income Floor (MIF), the Capital 

limit of £6,000 and restriction to two dependants. However 
these changes will bring us in line with the rest of Devon who 

have already implemented them.  
6.8 The Authority still has an Exceptional Hardship Fund which is 

financed through the collection fund for those residents that find 

themselves requiring short term financial assistance.     



6.9  The scheme will be far simpler for the claimant to understand, 
therefore less customer queries and calls, we won’t be verifying 

information so this will reduce staff assessing time and speed up 
processing times.     

6.10 The costs to administer the scheme should reduce significantly, 
but both Councils would have to agree to the banding scheme to 
realise all the efficiencies.    

6.11 See Appendix 2 for case load study.  
 

7. Other Options 
 

7.1 Our previous report showed that we had considered awarding 

100% reduction to those residents on passported benefits and 
very low income, however further modelling showed that this 

would cost the Authority an estimated additional £241,130. This 
% increase would advantage 1408 residents whilst 
disadvantaging only 292.   

7.2 Keeping the top band at 80% in line with our current scheme 
shows an estimated saving of £60,125, however keeping with 

80% would see 359 residents being disadvantaged whilst the 
remaining 1341 mainly remain the same.      

7.3 Increasing the top band to 90% would cost an estimated 
£94,055, this % would see 299 being disadvantaged and 1395 
gaining       

7.4 Increasing the top band to 85% will provide a cost neutral 
scheme which will see an increase for 1383 residents and only 

317 being disadvantaged, as stated above in 6.8 there is an 
Exceptional Hardship Fund to help those residents that require 
short term financial assistance.  

7.5 85% is the officers recommended choice due to this being the 
closest scheme to reach cost neutral whilst still benefiting the 

highest proportion of customers.       
 
 

 
 

     
8.  Implications  

 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals 

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y The relevant powers for this report are contained 

within the following legislation; 
 

Clause 34 of the Welfare Reform Bill provides for 
the abolition of Council Tax Benefit from 31st 
March 2013 and introduces the Local Council Tax 

Support Schemes to be administered by Local 
Authorities 

 



Financial 

 

Y The Government funding (Settlement funding 

assessment - SFA) received from Central 
Government will be reduced by 37% over the four 
years. Council Tax Reduction funding is included 

within the SFA. The scheme is designed to be cost 
neutral and covers the shortfall in funding of over 

£0.5 million.        
Risks Agreement 

on scheme 
 
 

 
Financial 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Failure to agree a scheme by 31st January 2019. 

 
Detrimental impact on collection rates 
 

Business case in place with all preceptors 
agreeing financial support to fund extra resource 

to undertake early intervention and money 
advice. 
 

Future funding reductions could mean that the 
proposed scheme will not remain fit for purpose 

 
Annual review and close monitoring of 
announcements and national forums 

 
Impact on wider economy and most vulnerable 

 
Business case in place with all preceptors 
agreeing financial support to provide Exceptional 

Hardship Fund to assist those in extreme financial 
need. 

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

Y An equality impact assessment hasn’t been 

completed yet, this will be done once we know the 
scheme. 
 

Safeguarding 
 

Y Changes to a Banded scheme could be seen to 
have a positive impact on child poverty.    

Community 
Safety, Crime and 

Disorder 
 

Y As above. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Y Changes to a Banded scheme could be seen to 
have a positive impact on our poorest and most 

vulnerable families. 

Other implications   

 

 

 
Appendices: 
 

Appendix 1 Devon Schemes 



Appendix 2 Banded Scheme examples  
 

 

 





Summary of CTS schemes for Devon LA's 2018/19

scheme details Torri
dge

Eas
t 

Exe
te

r

M
id

 
North

 

South
 H

am
s

Tei
gnbrid

ge

W
es

t 

Remove family premium no yes no yes yes no yes no
Limit backdating to 1 month no yes yes yes yes no yes no
Min income floor for s/e no yes yes yes yes no yes no
4 week absence no yes yes yes yes no yes no
Remove WRAC no yes yes yes yes no yes no
limit dep children to 2 no yes no yes yes no yes no
UC carer element no yes yes yes yes no yes no
remove additional earnings 
dis for UC no yes yes yes yes no yes no

Capital limit £6,000 £8,000.00 £6,000 £8,000.00 £6,000.00 £16,000.00 £6,000 £16,000.00
Band restriction D D no D D D D D
liability reduction 75% 80% 80% 80% 75% 80% 100% 80%
abolish SAR yes yes yes yes yes yes yes Yes
Excep hardship scheme yes yes yes yes yes yes yes Yes





Current Position 
 
Couple with two children, both Self-employed 
current weekly net income after deductions 
£289.13 

 Gardener  £85.01 
 Dance Teacher £30.22 
 Child Benefit £20.70 
 Child Benefit £13.70 
 Child Benefit disregarded - £20.70 
 Child Benefit disregarded - £13.70  
 Child Tax Credit £115.79 
 Working Tax Credit £85.21 
 Couple earnings disregard -£20.00 
 Additional earnings disregard -£17.10 
 Band B Council Tax weekly liability  

£27.73  
 CTR entitlement £17.58    

  
 

Under New Scheme 
 
Under the new scheme we would 
apply Minimum Income Floor, 
weekly net income after 
deductions £389.08 

 Gardener  £99.04 
 Dance Teacher £99.04 
 Child Benefit £20.70 
 Child Benefit £13.70 
 Child Benefit disregarded - 

£20.70 
 Child Benefit disregarded - 

£13.70  
 Child Tax Credit £115.79 
 Working Tax Credit £85.21 
 Couple earnings disregard -

£10.00 
 Additional earnings 

disregard - £0.00 
 Band B Council Tax weekly 

liability  £27.73  
 

25% discount as Income now falls 
within Family+ band 4 £360.01 - 
£430.00    

 CTR entitlement £6.91    
 

Benefits for Claimant 
 

 They would stay on this level of 
entitlement unless their income 
dropped below £360.00 or 
increased above £430.00 

 Easier to claim, they don’t have 
to complete a long claim form 

 Don’t need to provide lots of 
evidence when they make their 
initial claim 

 Or report a change in their 
circumstances 

   

Benefits for Council 
 

 Much easier to administer 
 Will be able to be processed 

automatically without the need 
of human intervention 

 

 
Single parent with 2 children on Universal Credit, 
current net weekly income £190.75 

 UC £190.75 
 Band B Council Tax weekly liability £27.69 
 Less 25% SPD - £6.92 
 Weekly CT liability £20.77 
 Weekly CTR entitlement £16.62 (80% of 

£20.77) 
 CTR entitlement £16.62 

 

 
Under the new scheme will fall into 
the category Family+ band 1 
awarding 85% 
CTR entitlement £17.65 

 
 No need for claimant to 

complete claim form 
 We will accept UC notification 

letter as claim form 
 Claim will not react to 

automated  change in 
circumstances produced by 
Universal Credit thus less bills 
being produced and instalments 
not fluctuating   allowing tax 
payer to budget    

 
 By accepting a UC notification as 

a claim form we improve 
collection      

 Claim will not react to automated 
change in circumstance which will 
stop multiple bills being issued in 
the financial year reducing admin 
costs and allowing the Authority 
to enforce recovery for the non-
payers. 

   



Single claimant, working with one dependent 
child. Current net weekly income £111.60 

 Earnings £92.05  
 Working Tax Credit £13.74  
 Child Tax credit 47.91   
 Child benefit 20.70  
 Child benefit disregarded -£20.70 
 Lone parent earnings disregard -£25 per 

week 
 Additional Earnings disregard -£17.10 per 

week 
 Council Tax band A weekly net liability 

£17.75 
 CTR entitlement £14.21  

Under the new scheme net weekly 
income will be £133.70 
 
• Earnings £92.05  
• Working Tax Credit £13.74  
• Child Tax credit 47.91   
• Child benefit 20.70  
• Child benefit disregarded -
£20.70  
• Lone parent earnings 
disregard -£20  
• Council Tax Band A weekly 
net liability £17.75 
• 85% under Family1 band 1 
CTR entitlement £15.09  

 
 

 Although there is a reduction in 
earnings disregards under the 
banded scheme entitlement has 
still increased 

 
 

 Increased entitlement means 
reduced instalments so higher 
chance of receiving payment, 
increasing collection rate      

201304068 
• Couple, 1 working with seven dependent 
children, one receiving DLA care. Total net weekly 
income after disregards £699.87 
• Earnings £327  
• Child Tax credit £335.37   
• Child benefit £102.90 (disregarded) 
• DLA £57.30  
• Carers Allowance £64.60   
• Maintenance received for children       
£47.75 (disregarded) 
• Earnings disregard £10  
• Additional  earnings disregarded £17.10 
• Maintenance disregarded 
• DLA disregarded 
• Council Tax band D weekly net liability 
£36.14 
• CTR entitlement  £28.83 - £0.08 short of 
max award 
 

Under new scheme total net 
weekly income after disregards 
£652.37 
• As old scheme but with  
• Carers allowance £64.60  
disregarded  
• Additional earnings 
disregard £0.00 
• Council Tax band D weekly 
net liability £36.14 
 
Above the income threshold of 
£430.00 for Family+  
 

 CTR entitlement £0.00 

 
 none 

 
 the authority has fallen in line 

with the rest of Devon in only 
allowing for 2 children in the 
assessment of entitlement  

 
201303566 
Single claimant self-employed in Media, total net 
weekly income after disregards £91.59 

 
Under the new scheme MIF will be 
applied, total net weekly income 
after disregards £243.99    
 

  
 Falling in line with DWP guidance 

& the rest of Devon in using 
Minimum Income Floor for those 
engaged in long term self-



• Working 35 hours per week Earning 
£38.62 per week 
• Working Tax Credit £52.97  
• Earnings disregard £5  
• Additional earnings disregard £17.10 
• Council Tax band C weekly net liability 
£23.84 
• CTR entitlement £19.07 max award 

• Working 35 hours per 
week MIF earnings to be used 
£196.02  
• Working Tax Credit £52.97  
• Earnings disregard £5   
• Additional earnings 
disregard £0.00 
• Council Tax band C weekly 
net liability £23.84 
 
25% reduction under single person 
Band 4 £220.01 - £290.00  
 
• CTR entitlement £5.96  

employed work and declaring low 
income.   

201303155 
Single homeowner with a weekly net income 
following disregards of £90.63 
• Self-employed cleaner 13 hours a week 
earning £95.63 
• Earnings disregard £5  
• Council Tax band C weekly net liability 
£25.10 
• CTR entitlement £16.58 

Under the new scheme net weekly 
income after disregards is £191.02 
• MIF £196.02  
• Council Tax band C weekly 
net liability £25.10 
• Council Tax Reduction  
 
45% reduction under single person 
Band 3 £160.01 - £220.00  
 

 CTR entitlement  £11.29  

 
 

 
 Reduction in cost to the authority 

for those not working in 
meaningful self-employment 

201302816 
Single person with a non-dependant 

 Employment and Support Allowance 
£110.75  

 Non dependant receives Carers 
Allowance £64.60   

 Weekly Council Tax Liability £10.04 per 
week  

 Non dependant deduction £3.90 per 
week 

 CTR entitlement £6.14 

 
No non-dependant deduction 
under the new scheme 
 
100% as will fall into band for 
single person with passported 
benefit   

 CTR entitlement £10.04 
 

 
 full award of CTR as no non 

dependant deduction being 
taken 

 
 Reduced collectable debt for 

someone who is not liable for the 
Council Tax.  

 




	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	5 Revenue Monitoring
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	6 Capital Budget Monitoring 2018/19
	Appendix A

	7 Budget Proposals 2019-20 onwards update report
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C -Exempt
	Appendix D -EXEMPT
	Appendix E

	8 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


